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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
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RESULTS SUMMARY
E o

The board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of HETEERAT ([RAF] )=
New Media Lab Limited (“Company”) presents the == ([EE8 0 [E5])E=2
audited consolidated results of the Company and its RIRENREBAD (HE [AER])
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) for the #H E2023F128318 IFFE ([AE
year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year”). Bl 2RBIRESHERB-

For the year ended
31 December
BZ12B3HLLEE

HK$°000 HK$°000

FiET FETT

Total revenue 220,885 240,678
RUA

Digital advertising 211,534 229,169

HRES

Print advertising and circulation 9,351 11,509

ENRIE S K317
Adjusted net profit* 22,194 37,876

G SEFIDE
*  Adjusted net profit represents the net profit excluding * K ZHZGEFEIISFEIE FHEIST R —

the listing expenses and one-off income, which reflects RIEW A2 FF B - B2 RN EEFR
the Group’s core operating performance B EEKIR

During the Year, the Group has recommended the RATE AEEEEHEIRKN KPR
payment of a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per share. SER1.281 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=PRI R E) N oa L

RESULTS

Despite the general recovery of the consumption
market during the first half of the Year, the macro
economy was clouded with uncertainties and market
competition remained fierce, hence the Group’s total
revenue was HK$220.9 million (2022: HK$240.7 million)
during the Year. Revenue from digital advertising was
HK$211.5 million (2022: HK$229.2 million) and remained
a key revenue contributor, accounting for 95.8% (2022:
95.2%) of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s net
profit was HK$14.5 million (2022: HK$39.4 million).
The adjusted net profit excluding the listing expenses
and one-off income was HK$22.2 million (2022:
HK$37.9 million), which reflected the Group’s core
operating performance. The basic earnings per share
was HK2.8 cents' (2022: HK8.8 cents'). The Group has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.2
cents per share (2022: Nil).

MARKET REVIEW

With outbound travel having resumed globally
during the Year, relative normality has returned to
most countries. Consumption sentiment has revived,
contributing to the resurgence of retail activities as
well as online businesses. As a result, brands were
again willing to spend on advertisements to enhance
brand visibility and drive sales. The resumption of
spending in marketing campaigns and promotions has
exerted a positive influence on the digital advertising
industry.

Nevertheless, various global factors such as tightened
monetary policies, inflationary pressure, interest rate
hikes, ongoing geopolitical tensions, etc. have led to
abundant challenges in the market during the second
half of the Year, resulting in a volatile economic
environment. With an uncertain economic outlook, again
consumers turned cautious. A weakened consumption
sentiment has directly affected brands’ advertising
spending, which is very responsive to market conditions.

! Please refer to note 12 on pages 113 to 114 for the number
of shares used for calculation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=PRI R E) N oa L

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a digital media flagship group, providing
one-stop integrated advertising solutions to brand
owners and advertising agencies through several digital
media platforms. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 17 July 2023 (“Listing
Date”).

ERORE

Z&%% FREMELEEES B
ZEHAREBYES OREBHES
E%t‘:ﬁ@/ﬁj?ﬂ,\ IERIREES

BRTTZE - N RNTKRIDIN2023F78

178 ([ ETHBE)REBEHESXL S

PTBERAT ([B32ER]) EfR e

The Group has established its online business since 2011,
and currently operates nine media brands, including
“Weekend Weekly’, “Oriental Sunday”, “Economic
Digest”, “New Monday”, “More”, “GOtrip”, “Sunday
Kiss”, as well as two more recently introduced brands
- “SSwagger” and “Madame Figaro”. Each brand has
its dedicated content pillars covering dining and local
attractions, gourmet and gastronomy, fashion and beauty,
travel, entertainment news, kids and parenting, electronic
gadgets and gaming, finance and investment, as well as
designer and luxury labels. The target positions of each
media brand are as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=PRI R E) N oa L

“Weekend Weekly’” - Specialises in providing lifestyle
content ranging from topical dining trends and discoveries
around town to best dining and shopping offers, tips and
recommendations, to meet the demands of people from all
walks of life.

[RTRHA) —SBEPIRHERFYETEMORNT B ZRNEHM 1
MM RERBEDES - B LTREN  UREATALTHFERK -

“Oriental Sunday” - Offers up-to-date entertainment gossip
news of artists and celebrities’ activities and providing
updates on developments in the entertainment industry.
(R ] —REBARDAGHORE N\ DNFTERBHB LR G
B

“Economic Digest” - Provides the latest information on
economics, investment, financial markets and personal
finance, with the major target audience comprising
professional investors, white collars and general public who
follow investment and financial markets.

[ 488 —A | — = ﬁ?%%%”“\&”‘ ERIMBRE AR NEHEN
TEEETRRBEMELERTMMOBNEERES BRALTR—

N

“New Monday” - Provides content on the latest social trends,

covering topics such as online shopping, online games,

electronic gadgets, sports trend, fashion, entertainment

news and beauty tips.

L%/fMondayJ RESRFOMZAAANS  WEIR B - R D85
ETED ENPR B REFEREZBHLTEEE-

“More” - Targets a female audience with coverage of topics
including fashion, skincare, makeup, nutritious menus for healthy
diets and wedding pIanning

[More ] — BRA/AUMSZR WETHEDBRE EE L/ BERX
B EEEEREBIBERE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR ERE N

“GOtrip” - Provides comprehensive travel information and
suggested itineraries ranging from local excursions, staycation to
global destinations.

[GOtrip ] — R ENRBENRITERSR  BEAMERE B
B2 Rt SR s Bt

“Sunday Kiss” - Targets young parents with coverage of the
latest trends in child-care, parenting and education, as well as
shopping tips.

[Sunday Kiss | —DIFERLEBREE MWEER R RIE V&
RENREWIET -

“SSwagger” - Targets GenZ community with content coverage
of active and sustainable lifestyle, music and dance, as well as
art and creative design trends.

[SSwagger | —DIZHERAMEREBIE AT UEBRRE IFENEDS
oI BEFER  DRENIA ,_\Dx:#@*“o

“Madame Figaro” - An upmarket, prestigious platform covering
fashion and beauty, aiming to capture the luxury market.
[Madame Figaro | —R—BHEFEEREZTNERAETEREN Y
B EREhEREME-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Strong Market Presence with Extensive
Coverage

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 9 media brands,
covering 9 websites, 10 fanpages on Facebook and 9
profiles on Instagram. The Group has a strong digital
presence with millions of subscribers who follow its
contents on the websites, mobile apps and third-party
social media platforms. This social media engagement
creates an ideal platform for advertisers to communicate
with and collect feedback from their current and
potential consumers and broaden their reach.

Subsequent to the Year, the Group received several
accolades in the 8th Media Convergence Awards,
organised by Hong Kong Association of Interactive
Marketing, in recognition of its efforts and excellence
in using technology to transform and innovate in the
delivery of news and information in the past year.
“Economic Digest” received two awards, namely “Overall
- Gold Award” and “ESG - Bronze Award”, both under
the Magazine category. “Weekend Weekly” received four
awards, namely “Social Media - Silver Award”, “Mobile
Applications - Silver Award”, “Overall - Bronze Award”
and “Top Ten Favourite Fanpages”, all of which are under
the Online Media category.

cum AL‘LI 1 g”

~lnm. o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Broad Range of Advertising Products and
Services

The Group offers a wide spectrum of advertising
products and integrated services on various media
platforms including display banners, advertorials and
reviews and social newsfeeds, along with creative
production and strategic services such as search engine
optimisation (SEO) and segment marketing. The Group
has an in-house platform team dedicated to analysing
audience behaviour on the Group’s media platforms via
analytic tools for gaining insights into the behaviour and
preferences of target audiences.

Well-established Relationships with Clients
Across Different Industries

The Group has been engaged in the media industry
in Hong Kong for over 20 years and is renowned for
its popular flagship media brands including “Oriental
Sunday”, “Weekend Weekly’”, “New Monday” and
“Economic Digest”. With a long history in the
advertising business in the print media and an early
entry into the digital marketing business, the Group has
established an extensive client network. The Group’s
diverse client portfolio ranges from 4A’s and non-4A’s
advertising agencies, multinational corporations and
brand owners to small and medium-sized enterprises,
covering a large variety of business sectors.

PROSPECTS

Since the pandemic began, the media landscape has
changed, with audiences and advertisers largely turning
and adapting to the use of digital channels. Digital
advertising has become a growth engine in the advertising
industry. The Group established its online business a decade
ago; riding on its advantage as a pioneer, it will continue
investing in enhancing its digital platforms and upgrading
its content management system, in order to provide quality,
creative content, to help clients connect with their target
audiences. The Group will also strengthen the application
of artificial intelligence and machine learning models in
its platforms’ backend operations, in order to utilise the
resulting data for assessing the performance of its business
units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As 2024 begins, consumer confidence remains weak
in the face of an uncertain economic outlook. In the
meantime, the deepening slump in China’s property
market is casting a shadow over global growth prospects.
Advertisers therefore tend to stay conservative regarding
their marketing budgets. In light of this, the Group will
utilise the diversity of its nine media brands, which cover
a broad spectrum of area of interests, in order to attract
advertising clients with different target audiences. The
Group will also enhance the content offering by identifying
trending topics, to maintain the stickiness of its audiences,
which will help strengthen its market presence and
maintain stable business performance.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial
Resources

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31
December 2023 amounted to HK$142.7 million (2022:
HK$19.9 million), and were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
did not have any bank borrowings (2022: HK$21.0
million), and hence its gearing ratio (calculated on the
basis of the total debts over total equity) significantly
decreased to 0.4% (2022: 31.1%). The strong liquidity
position enables the Group to retain high flexibility for
future development.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current assets
and current liabilities were approximately HK$212.7
million (2022: HK$101.3 million) and HK$36.2 million
(2022: HK$59.6 million), respectively. Current ratio and
quick ratio of the Group were 5.9 (2022: 1.7) and 5.9
(2022:1.7), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31
December 2023, the Board considered that the Group
had sufficient working capital for its operations and
future development plans.

Initial Public Offering and Use of Proceeds
The Company has been successfully listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
following the completion of a share offer of ordinary
shares of the Company, including a public offer of
45,000,000 shares and placing of 105,000,000 shares,
at a price of HK$0.92 per share (“Share Offer”). As
at the Listing Date, the Company had 600,000,000
shares in issue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Based on the offer price of HK$0.92 per share, the net
proceeds from the Share Offer, after deducting listing
related expenses, amounted to approximately HK$103.5
million. The actual use of the net proceeds up to 31
December 2023 is set out below:

Approximate  Allocation of
percentage of useof net  31December 31 December unutilised net

net proceeds proceeds

HEREEBER0.928 T KD
ECHBRIEBFHR (R LEMHAEERM
%) R#1103,500,00058 75 - & &
2023F1283318 - IEREFENE
BRERBRIFIWT :

FRREFfe  FERERE FEREFHL  RYALHE FiRmERHL

[ Rig e ni
(HK$ million)

Expand and enhance product lines and enhance 44.5% 46.0
data collection and analytical capabilities
BERINBERRI URRSHABRNERDITEN

Mergers and acquisitions and/or strategic alliances 26.3% 212
with other media or e-commerce market players

REMERYETERTANEESHRIER/T

BURKEE

Actual use of Expected
net proceeds  Unutilised net timetable for
upto proceeds as of use of the
2023 2023 proceeds

REE REE
2023F12A318  2023F12R318 ERXBA
HRSG RHREE

(HK$ million)

‘ )
19 441 By 31 December 2025
2025128318 H
Nil 272 By 31 December 2024
i 2024F125318 8
0.3 127 By 31 December 2025

Construct in-house media content management 12.5% 13.0
platform
BRNIEBNTERTE

2025F128318 2]

General working capital 9.9% 10.2 10.2 Nil NA
—ReEEL i AER
Repay bank borrowings 6.8% 71 71 Nil NA
EERTED i AER
Total 100% 103.5 19.5 84.0

For the expected timeline of the intended use of
proceeds, please refer to the “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” section in the Company’s prospectus dated
30 June 2023. The unutilised net proceeds are held by
way of bank deposits with licensed banks or authorised
financial institutions in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 232 (2022:
240) employees. Total staff costs including Directors’
remuneration and the other staff costs for the Year
were HK$100.9 million (2022: HK$94.7 million).
Each employee’s remuneration was determined
in accordance with the individual’s responsibility,
competence and skills, experience and performance
as well as market pay levels. Staff benefits include
medical insurance, retirement benefits and other
competitive fringe benefits. The Company has adopted
a share option scheme on 26 June 2023, which became
effective on the Listing Date to provide incentives or
rewards to its staff.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRERERABZERE

Executive Director and Chairman

WONG CHI FAI, aged 68, an Executive Director of the
Company and the Chairman of the Board. He is also the
Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company as well
as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Wong joined the Group in June 1999 and is responsible
for overseeing the financial management and advising
on the business strategic planning and development
of the Group. He has over 30 years of finance and
management experience in different businesses ranging
from media and publication, property investment and
development, hotel and hospitality, watch and jewellery
retailing, financial and securities services, wholesaling
and retailing of furniture, cinema development and
operation to entertainment production and investment as
well as artiste management. He is currently a director of
Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163)
(“Emperor International”), Emperor Entertainment Hotel
Limited (Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”), Emperor
Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor
W&J”), Emperor Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 491)
(“Emperor Culture”), Emperor Capital Group Limited
(Stock Code: 717) (“Emperor Capital Group”) and Ulferts
International Limited (Stock Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”), all
being listed members of Emperor Group. Mr. Wong is a
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer

LEE YAT PUI, ROYCE, aged 54, an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
of the Group. Mr. Lee joined the Group as consultant in
October 2016 and became the CEO since January 2017.
He was appointed as a Director in March 2021 and is
responsible for overall management of the Group and
planning the Group’s business and strategies. Mr. Lee
is also a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience
in marketing and brand management, and specialised
in digital marketing. Mr. Lee had worked in Nestlé
China Limited and Coca-Cola China Limited and was
responsible for marketing. He subsequently took up
directorship in a digital marketing company. Prior to
joining the Group, he ventured into e-learning and
founded a company aiming to apply digital technology
to facilitate learning. He is also a director of Double
Blossoms Limited (“Double Blossoms”), which is
a company disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities”
on page 20 of this report. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor of
Science and a Degree of Master in Philosophy from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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EENEREBASZER

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 61, an Executive
Director of the Company, the Chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee and a member
of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. She joined the
Group in June 1999 and is responsible for overseeing
the overall corporate management and advising on
the business strategies of the Group. Ms. Fan has
over 35 years of corporate management experience
in diversified businesses ranging from media and
publication, property investment and development,
hotel and hospitality, watch and jewellery retailing,
financial and securities services, wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, cinema development and
operation to entertainment production and investment
as well as artiste management. She is currently a
director of Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel,
Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture, Emperor Capital
Group and Ulferts, all being listed members of Emperor
Group. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by profession in Hong
Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHENG KA YU, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2023.
She is also the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee
as well as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Ms.
Cheng was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998
and is now a partner of P. C. Woo & Co, a solicitors firm.
She was an independent non-executive director of Emperor
International from 2012 to 2021. She holds a Bachelor of
Laws Degree from The University of Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

MAK KAM CHIU, aged 47, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in June 2023. He is also the Chairman of the Audit
Committee as well as a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Mak has over 20 years of
experience in financial management and internal
audit. He has served as finance director and/or held
management positions with various multinational
corporations engaging in retailing and/or food and
beverage industry. Mr. Mak is currently the finance
director of Skechers Hong Kong Limited. He holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accountancy
from the City University of Hong Kong and a Degree
of Master of Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Mak is a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
Hong Kong and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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EENRERERABZERE

Independent Non-executive Director

NIU ZHONGJIE, aged 56, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in June 2023. He is also the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee as well as a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Niu has worked with various financial
institutions and has extensive experience in equity
capital markets. He is currently the responsible officer
for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities of Vision Finance
Asset Management Limited. He is also a director of
Vision Finance International Company Limited and
the responsible officer of the company to carry on
type 1 (dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) regulated activities. Mr. Niu is
currently an independent non-executive director of
Nanjing Sample Technology Company Limited (Stock
Code: 1708), Peiport Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2885) and Starlight Culture Entertainment Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1159). He holds a Bachelor of Arts
in Business Administration from Northeast Missouri
State University, Missouri USA and a Degree of Master
of Business Administration from The University of Hong
Kong.

Chief Operation Officer

CHEUNG WAI YU, aged 49, the Chief Operating Officer
of the Group. Ms. Cheung joined the Group in October
2018 and is responsible for overseeing and guiding
the day-to-day operations of the Group, and presides
over the revenue and sales growth, expenses, costs
and margin control, and monthly, quarterly and annual
financial goal management of the Group. She has
over 19 years of experience in overseeing finance and
operation of media and advertising companies. Ms.
Cheung holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Chief Information Officer

YEUNG MAN LEUNG, aged 47, the Chief Information
Officer of the Group. Mr. Yeung joined the Group in
July 2018 and is responsible for driving digitalisation
in the Group from in-house operation to users’ digital
experience through leading the technical and project
team. Mr. Yeung has over 25 years of experience in ICT
industry including software engineering, web business
development and mobile application development,
operation and marketing. Mr. Yeung holds a Bachelor
of Engineering in Computer Science from by The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEWRS

The Directors present this annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 22 March 2021 with limited liability. The Company’s
shares (“Shares”) have been listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since the Listing Date.

Details of use of net proceeds are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11 of
this report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in digital media, which
include providing one-stop integrated advertising
solutions to brand owners and advertising agencies
through several digital media platforms. Details of
the principal activities and other particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 60 of this annual report.

On 17 March 2023, interim dividend of HK$500
per share for the Year (2022: HK$600 per share)
amounting to HK$10 million, was paid to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) during
the Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.2 cents per share for the Year (2022:
Nil), amounting to approximately HK$7.2 million
(2022: Nil) to Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members on 18 June 2024 (Tuesday),
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 6
June 2024 (Thursday) (2024 AGM”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year
and an analysis of the likely future development of
the Group’s business are set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis from pages 6 to 11 of
this report. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 47 to 49
and note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that
had occurred since the end of the Year up to the date
of this report.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance
during the Year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in the Financial Summary on
page 144. Discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, key relationships with the
Group’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant
impact on the Company are set out in the 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last 4 years is set out on page 144 of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the
Company during the Year are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group
during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 63 of this
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated in accordance with the Cayman
Companies Act included share premium accounts
and other reserves, totaling HK$130,632,000 (2022:
HK$20,626,000), of which HK$7,200,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the period from the Listing Date
to the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles of
Association”), or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of changes in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
39% (2022: 42%) and 13% (2022: 10%) respectively of the
Group’s total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable
to the Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s
largest supplier accounted for approximately 57%
(2022: 59%) and 48% (2022: 51%) respectively of the
Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or
Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares)
had any beneficial interest in the above major
customers and suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu (appointed on 26 June 2023)
Mr. Mak Kam Chiu (appointed on 26 June 2023)
Mr. Niu Zhongjie (appointed on 26 June 2023)
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior
management as at the date of this report are set out
from pages 14 to 16 of this report. Details of Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with Article 83(3) and 84(1) of Articles
of Association, all Directors shall retire at the 2024
AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-
election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-
election at the 2024 AGM has an unexpired service
contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Group’s business
were entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
During the Year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has in force the permitted indemnity
provisions which are provided for in the Articles of
Association and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal
proceedings that may be brought against the Directors
and the directors of the Group respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company (“Chief Executives”) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
adopted by the Company were as follows:

HHHHH‘ 20 New Media Lab Limited $TETEIBRAT 2023 Annual Report F£{

RARSBH EkaREEBAE
KERSFBERAFTRSBI4EI6E
BEEFHMFBIIRIRO B RRMET
8o

RIEEBSIEMAES83(3)R84()
5 TREBEHN2024FKRBHEEK
SERE UWNEESERERS
EEEBIT-

AR AE2024FRBBET RS LE
BEFCESHAEETEIR—F
NRNEBE CEEBERIN) 2 KB
RIFSH

EESH

RAEER  RIEMSHN  WIRET1T
AEEHREAEBEENTTEAS
PDEBNERRITBEEZSH -

38 5T BY SRR IR S
RAEEREZARSOML
SRAEBESH B THEBHOXE
FRAMELNBESTREA AQ
BT OBEIEL  HSHEX
DABMRER/EROUNREEBL
BoEERERETBASEIRRK
A e

EERRETHABZES
e

R2023F128318  ESEANT L
EaTHAE (IRBABAR]IR
ARNOREMBEBE (EEREHR
HEFERE ([BFRIAEEHE])EXY
88) 2 fp - 1BER D RERE DD
RKRNODREZBHRAEEREIS21(E
BYEGEL SR MATaeite e &K
B iR BEARIRMNBRTES
EHRA ([ LA )KERC3PTH,
2 P& T ABEBETEHZNE
AFA (MFEFA))BERSTHNEAR
NORBRZCRERXBUN N :




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEWRS

(A)Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each
Capacity/

Name of Director Nature of interests

EENS

Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce
(“Mr. Royce Lee”)
T—ERE ([FRE])

S s

Interest in a controlled
corporation

SEEERR
Note:

Mr. Royce Lee legally and beneficially owned the entire
issued share capital of Double Blossoms. He was deemed
to be interested in the same 90,000,000 Shares held by
Double Blossoms.

(B)Long position interests in associated
corporation of the Company
Ordinary shares

Name of associated Capacity/

Name of Director corporation

Bf /i E

gsng BhzE2R

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial Owner
Vanessa
CEET T HEEIR EnFBA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO).

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
(“Share Option Scheme”) on 26 June 2023 (effective
on the Listing Date). Particulars of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements. No option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme
since its effective date.

The number of share options available for grant under
the scheme mandate as at the Listing Date and the
end of the Year, respectively, was 60,000,000, which
represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
this annual report.

New Media Lab Limited $TEt8BRAT 2023 Annual Report &£ 21 H‘HHHH

Nature of interests

ARENIZBRER
HFREEO.ONBITSZER

Number of Shares % of issued

interested voting Shares
FiisE iR EB#T
ZBH¥E ERFRRN%
90,000,000 15

M -

THRESEAREZEEDouUble
BlossomsZ2 B2 &{TRA - T4
HiE R Double BlossomsfTiEHa
B948/@90,000,000 8 R 1D S f2

Ny
pangye)

BEANTREZEZER
s
ZER

Number of ordinary
shares

interested

FisE R
ZEERRHHE

10,500,000

Approximate %

of issued

voting shares
EB#T
ERFERMO%

0.29

bR EXCREEIN 1R2023F 12831
B HBEEFAKRSTHRAERARN
IRETOBRHEE (EERBHR
HEERMSBXVE) 2 ETR D - 18F3
RIDERERBPHEBEORER K
% o

RARE

AN 1R2023F6526 BiFM—I18
IR EH B RN ERESTE (88
RRIESHEl ) - SRIERRESTEICFHE
RIS U BEMEE2S5 - BERKRE
StEIEMBHME  WEERERE
BRESTEIEY BT HE Tk
5‘& o

BE LM BRRATER  RIEST
EREURECEREIEDER
60,000,000/ HIRATRBHE
BITRIDEVNIO0% °




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEWRS

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the
Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above,
at the end of the Year and at no time during the
Year was the Company, any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or Chief
Executives or their spouses or children under 18 years
of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERSTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives,
as at 31 December 2023, the persons or corporations
(other than Directors or Chief Executives) who had,
or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”’) were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Capacity/
Nature of interests

5/ EitE

Legal/beneficial owner

New Media Lab Group Holdings Limited
(“New Media Lab Holdings”)

HECEEERRERAT ((MECHUER]) 575/ EaksEA

Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 1)

RRBEFE B (K1)

Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
(“AY Holdings”)
BEMEXARERAT ((REKERER])

First Trust Services AG
(“First Trust Services”)

Trustee of a private
discretionary trust (Note 2)
MAREEFZEA (2

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”)
ERAET ((RHEL))

Founder of a private
discretionary trust (Note 2)
RARBEFEAIBA (M&2)
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EFERS

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon

EZll=yegn

Double Blossoms

Double Fantastic Group Limited
(“Double Fantastic”)

Ms. Lee Lan Kiu
(“Ms. Venus Lee”)

SHBEULT ([FRL])

Mr. Yau Yi Ping
e

Notes:

Capacity/ Number of Shares % of issued
Nature of interests interested voting Shares

FiiE R BRI
i/ RatE ZRin#E ERTREAR M %
Interest of spouse (Note 3) 315,000,000 52.5
RERE (W&3)
Legal/beneficial owner 90,000,000 15
8%/ BREBA (Note 4)

(Hrit4)
Legal/beneficial owner 45,000,000 75
5%/ BRBEEA
Interest in a controlled 45,000,000 7.5
corporation (Note 5)

AR EECER (H55)
Interest of spouse (Note 6) 45,000,000 75

EBER (H6)
fyst

The entire issued share capital of New Media Lab
Holdings was held by AY Holdings, which in turn was
held by First Trust Services as trustee of a private
discretionary trust set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. AY
Holdings was deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares held by New Media Lab Holdings.

First Trust Services was the trustee and Dr. Albert Yeung
was the founder of the private discretionary trust.
By virtue of the SFO, each of First Trust Services and
Dr. Albert Yeung was deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares held by New Media Lab Holdings.

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon was deemed to be interested
in the same number of Shares held by New Media Lab
Holdings by virtue of the deemed interest held by her
spouse, Dr. Albert Yeung.

These Shares were the same Shares of which Mr. Royce
Lee had deemed interest as set out under the section of
"Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests in Securities”
above.
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5. Ms. Venus Lee legally and beneficially owns the entire
issued share capital of Double Fantastic and was deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by
Double Fantastic.

6. Mr. Yau Yi Ping was deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares held by Double Fantastic by virtue of
the deemed interest held by his spouse, Ms. Venus Lee.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Directors or Chief Executives were not aware of any
person or corporation (other than the Directors and
Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed or taken to
have, any interests or short positions in any Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor
their respective close associates was interested in any
business which was considered to compete or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS

IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS,
CONTRACTS OR CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During and at the end of the Year, none of Directors
or entities connected to the Directors was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the Group’s business.

The Group had not entered into any connected
transaction or continued connected transactions since
the Listing Date and up to the end of the Year, which
is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All transactions under note 28 to consolidated financial
statements are connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules exempted from announcement, reporting,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Our controlling shareholders, namely New Media Lab
Holdings, AY Holdings, The Albert Yeung Discretionary
Trust, Dr. Albert Yeung, Mr. Royce Lee and Double
Blossoms (collectively, “Controlling Shareholders”) had
entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the
Company on 26 June 2023 (“Deed of Non-Competition”),
details of which have been set out in the section headed
“Relationship With Controlling Shareholders” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2023. Each
of Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that he/it
had complied with the Deed of Non-Competition during
the period from the Listing Date up to the date of this
annual report. The independent non-executive directors
of the Company (“INEDs”) have reviewed that state of
compliance of each of the Controlling Shareholders with
the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the INEDs can
ascertain, there has been no breach of the undertakings
given in the Deed of Non-Competition by the Controlling
Shareholders during the period from the Listing Date up to
the date of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided
by the Board as recommended by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to a written remuneration
policy (which ensures a clear link of business strategy
and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest
and current market best practice). Remuneration
should be paid with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives, the salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Executive and Non-executive Directors, internal
equity of employment conditions across the Group
and applicability of performance-based remuneration.
The Directors’ fees are paid in line with market
practice. No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in
accordance with individual’s responsibility, competence
and skills, experience and performance as well as
market pay level. Remuneration package includes,
as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’ fees,
contribution to pension schemes, discretionary bonus
relating to financial performance of the Group and
individual performance, ad hoc rewards, share options
and other competitive fringe benefits such as medical
insurance. Details of the emoluments of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are
set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, there was sufficient public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM. A resolution
for its reappointment as independent auditor of the
Company will be proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance for the Company
so as to ensure “Accountability, Responsibility and
Transparency” towards Shareholders, investors,
employees as well as stakeholders of Company and
has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules so as to having effective application of
the principles of good corporate governance. During
the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023,
the Company had fully complied with all the code
provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY
The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, focusing on four pillars, namely customer
centricity, excellence in products and services, people
first and positivity, which is underpinned by its purpose
and values that enable employees at all levels of
the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by
acting in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that
allows the Company to deliver sustainable long-term
performance and operate in a way that benefits society
and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide
for employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring
that they are integrated throughout the Company’s
operational practices, workplace policies and practices
and stakeholder relationships:
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The management is responsible for setting the tone
and shaping the corporate culture of the Company,
as well as defining the purpose, values and strategic
direction of the Group, which are under review by
the Board. Taking into account the corporate culture
is reflected in various contexts, such as workforce
engagement, employee retention and training, legal
and regulatory compliance, staff safety, wellbeing and
support, the culture, purpose, value and strategy of the
Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is
responsible for the leadership, control and promotion
of success of the Group in the interests of the
Shareholders by directing and supervising its affairs
and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring
the financial and management performance of the
Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises six Directors, with three
Executive Directors and three INEDs. Names and other
biographical details of the members of the Board are
set out from pages 14 to 16 of this annual report under
the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
section. All of them possess the skills, experience and
expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the following mechanisms were established:

e sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three,
representing more than one-third of the Board;

e no INED has served the Board for more than 9
years;

e separation of the role of the Chairman and the
Chief Executives ensures that there is a balance of
power and authority; and

e annual meeting between the Chairman and all
INEDs without presence of other Directors provides
an effective platform for the Chairman to listen to
independent views on various issues concerning the
Group.

The Board reviews implementation of these
mechanisms annually and ensures that they remain
effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy
setting out the approach to achieve a diverse Board
with a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to the business nature of the Company.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a wide range of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant and applicable from time to time. The merits
and contribution that will bring to the Board for any
Director proposed for re-election or any candidate
nominated to be Director will also be assessed, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and
the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix
of educational background, professional knowledge,
industry experience and length of service. The
diversity mix of the Board as at 31 December 2023 is
summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age
Distribution and Length of Service
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience

RERR R

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience

BTN F, LR

Business Management

EHEIR

Legal/Regulatory
RS ERE

Financial & Accounting

CEELS

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
BRR{IARRRER

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high
compared to other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, with two female directors out of six
(33.3%). During the period from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
recommended and the Board approved a target of
having no less than 25% female directors on the Board.
The Nomination Committee was of the view that the
current gender diversity of the Board was appropriate,
balanced and exceeding the target set. Therefore, no
timeline or plan was proposed for further enhancing
the gender diversity target of the Board for the time
being. The Nomination Committee will continue
reviewing the composition of the Board to maintain
diversity.

As at 31 December 2023, our total workforce
comprised of 66% female and 34% male, whereas
senior management comprised of 45% female and 55%
male. The current gender diversity of workforce was
appropriate taking into account the business models
and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provisions
under the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. The INEDs had provided their confirmation of
independence to the Company. Based on the annual
review conducted by the Nomination Committee, the
Board considered each of them to be independent with
reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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Board Process EEEEF

Other than regular Board meetings are held during the R IEMBEEZE2023F128318 IF
period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, HER REHABRTEE 2
additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board NEZEZE/THEIINEEZZHE I
committees established by the Board to consider HESEZRVTNEETZEEZZSH
specific matters, were convened, when necessary. PISESFESE -

The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the X ESR EMB AR E2023F128
period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023 is 318 IFHEHBEZZ < B RS 50
set out below: b

No. of meetings attended/held
HRE&HE BI8HRN

Corporate
Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination Governance General
Name of Directors Board Committee  Committee  Committee  Committee  Committee Meeting
tEER

Estg EE8 HERE EBHERE HMWZRE REZERE ZRE REAE
Executive Directors
anEs
Mr. Wong Chi Fai 2/2(C) 5/5(C) - il - - -
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce 2/2 5/5 - - - - -
$-Bk
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 2/2 5/5 - - i 111(C) -
RERTT
Independent Non-Executive Directors
RUFHNGES
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu 2/2 - 2/2 - 1/1(C) N -
gEPuT
Mr. Mak Kam Chiu 2/2 - 2/2 (C) il - Il -
v3ifilpired
Mr. Niu Zhongjie 2/2 - 2/2 111(C) i - -
sy eyine
Total number of meetings held: 2 5 2 1 1 1 -
BedEzey:

I I I I I B

C: Chairperson/Chairman of the Board/committee C 558/ /EE22E8
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During the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023, the Chairman held a meeting with
INEDs without the presence of Executive Directors in
compliance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company has received confirmation from each
Director twice a year that he/she has given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company during
the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023.
Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
changes, if any, in the number and nature of offices
they held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitment, including the identity
of the public companies or organizations and an
indication of the time involved.

Mr. Wong Chi Fai acts as the Chairman of the Board
who provides leadership to the Board. The day-to-day
management of the Group is delegated by the Board
to the CEO, Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce who is responsible
for the Group’s strategic planning, business growth
and development. The segregation of duties make
the Board and the operation of the Group function
effectively.

Mr. Wong Chi Fai sets the agenda for the Board and
ensures that members of the Board receive accurate,
timely and clear information, and that matters to be
taken into consideration are given their due weight, so
that sound decisions can be made. With the assistance
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures that
the Board properly exercises its powers, holds its
meetings and implements procedures in compliance
with all rules and requirements, and full and proper
records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt
with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written
resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on
the relevant Board resolution and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director
to have access to supporting papers and relevant
information for each scheduled meeting. All Directors
also have access to the services of the Company
Secretary and her team, and may take independent
professional advice upon request, at the Company’s
expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment. Besides, the Company provides
Directors with regular updates on changes to and
developments of the Group’s business, and on the
latest developments in the laws, rules and regulations
relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help
them make informed decisions and discharge their
duties and responsibilities as Directors. Such materials
will also be provided to newly appointed Directors
shortly upon their appointment as Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023, each Director had participated in
continuous professional development by attending
seminars/workshops/reading materials on the following
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company:

Name of Directors

ESHIERR RS
HEENESPHELRRESEZE
EXFESIRMERN - 39} - QT
EHAEBRUASBEBSH R
BOSHEN URRESHBERE
EBRIOVEE A28 R BT
B UBBESEHABRERED
BEFRESNBHERBE - AAT
TR ESESERESREH
REERHERER -

R EMBEHBRE2023F128318 1
HE SESPYBESHRFEEXE
B -Z8EBBEBUTNEBRHE
S/ THED/ BEMR DUERRS
RSB RREE WEDART

RHISEIECER

Topics of training covered

EENR

Mr. Wong Chi Fai G804

Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce Z&=— &4

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SB@8 &+
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu BB+

Mr. Mak Kam Chiu 2888404

Mr. Niu Zhongjie 488,544+

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and
facilitate effective management, certain functions
of the Board have been delegated by the Board to
the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Corporate Governance Committee (all set up
on 26 June 2023). Clear written terms of reference of
all the Board Committees are given to the respective
members of these Committees.

1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all the
Executive Directors during the Year, namely Mr.
Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Lee
Yat Pui, Royce and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. It
has all powers and authorities of the Board except
the following major matters as set out in a “Formal
Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by
the Board”:
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e determining the Group’s objectives and
strategies;

e approving annual and interim results and
financial reporting;

e declaring or recommending payment of
dividends or other distributions;

e approving major changes that require
notification by announcement under the Listing
Rules;

e approving publication of announcements for
notifiable transactions (except for discloseable
transactions in relation to lease transactions
recognizing the right-of-use asset according to
HKFRS 16 “Leases”) under the Listing Rules;

e approving non-exempt connected transactions/
non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(other than those transactions took place from
time to time under the master agreement(s)
previously approved by the Board/Shareholders
(as the case may be)) under the Listing Rules;
and

e approving major capital restructuring and issue
of new securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee
on the formulation and implementation of the
environment, social and governance (“ESG”)
initiatives of the Group, a sub-committee under the
Executive Committee known as the ESG Committee
was set up. The ESG Committee consists of
representatives from operations and supporting
departments and the Executive Committee. It has
the powers and authorities as delegated by the
Executive Committee to formulate and execute
relevant ESG action plan, and assess and make
recommendations on matters concerning the
Group’s sustainability development and ESG risks
and opportunities.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs
during the Year, namely Mr. Mak Kam Chiu
(Chairman of the Committee), Ms. Cheng Ka Yu and
Mr. Niu Zhongjie.
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The major roles and functions of the Audit
Committee are set out in its terms of reference
which include duties specified in the CG Code and
are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the period from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2023 is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management and finance
personnel the accuracy and fairness of the
interim consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 before
submission to the Board for consideration;

ii. reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-
audit services payable to the external auditor;

iii. approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed
the independence of external auditor and
approved its engagement; and

iv. reviewed and recommended to the Board
on the adoption of policy on use of external
auditor for non-audit services for the Company.

Subsequent to the Year, the Audit Committee held
one meeting and performed the following works:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and the external auditor the effectiveness of
audit process and the accounting policies and
principles adopted by the Group, and the accuracy
and fairness of the annual consolidated financial
statements for the Year before submission to the
Board for consideration;

ii. reviewed with the senior management and
finance personnel the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of
the Group during the Year;

iii. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment
of independent auditor at the 2024 AGM; and

iv. reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three
members during the Year, namely Mr. Niu Zhongjie
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Mak Kam Chiu,
both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its terms of reference
which include duties specified in the CG Code and
are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
Remuneration Policy of the Company during the
period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023.

Subsequent to the Year, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and performed the
following works:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fee and made
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/
package of the Executive Directors and senior
management and recommended the Board to
approve their specific packages.

Before recommendation to the Board, the
Remuneration Committee has reviewed and
assessed the remuneration package of the
Directors with reference to the Group’s operating
results, duties and level of responsibility of the
Directors and the prevailing market conditions.
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the
period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three
members during the Year, namely Ms. Cheng Ka
Yu (Chairperson of the Committee) and Mr. Niu
Zhongjie, both being INEDs, Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa, being Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are set out in its terms of reference
which include duties specified in the CG Code and
are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for
formulating policy and making recommendations
to the Board on nomination, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, and Board succession
pursuant to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the
Nomination Committee in identifying and
nominating suitable candidates for directorship
based on the Board Diversity Policy and sets
out the nomination criteria and the nomination
procedures for (i) nominating new Director to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Directors and Shareholders
regarding any Director proposed for election or re-
election at general meeting; and (iii) nomination by
Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential
candidates from any source as it may consider
appropriate and evaluate them by considering
various factors, including their professional
expertise, industry and business experience, time
commitments, potential contributions to board
diversity, material conflict of interest with the
Group (if any) and independence (for INEDs). The
Committee will then make recommendation for
suitable candidates to the Board for consideration
of appointment. In case of reappointment of
existing Directors who will retire at an annual
general meeting (“AGM”), the Committee will
review the rotation and retirement of Directors and
make recommendations to the Board accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2023 is set out as
follows:

i. reviewed the Nomination Policy; and

ii. made recommendation to the Board on the
gender diversity target at Board level.

Subsequent to the Year, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and performed the following

WoOrks:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board,;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;
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iii. reviewed the mechanism implemented regarding
independent views to the Board,;

iv. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

v. reviewed the Directors’ time commitment in
performing their duties as Directors; and

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the
re-election of Directors at 2024 AGM.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG
Committee”) consists of five members during
the Year, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an
Executive Director, Ms. Cheng Ka Yu and Mr. Mak
Kam Chiu, both being INEDs, a representative from
company secretarial function and a representative
from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the Company’s website.
The primary duties of the CG Committee are (a)
developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Company (“CG
Policy”) and making recommendations to the
Board; (b) reviewing and monitoring the policies
and practices of the Company on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements (“Legal
Policy”); (c) developing, reviewing and monitoring
the codes of conduct applicable to Directors and
relevant employees of the Group regarding dealings
in the Company’s securities; (d) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
and (e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this annual report.

The CG Committee has reviewed the Legal Policy
during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023.

Subsequent to the Year, the CG Committee held
one meeting and performed the following works:

i. reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation
to the Board;

ii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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iii. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group
regarding securities transactions; and

iv. reviewed the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in Corporate
Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an
employee of the Company, had duly complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Model Code as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. Having made specific enquiry to Directors,
all of them confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard of dealings as set out in Model
Code throughout the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to
prepare the annual consolidated financial statements
of the Group and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules. The management has provided
all members of the Board with monthly updates on
internal consolidated financial statements which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the Year, the Board had adopted appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgment and estimates that were prudent and
reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis
(with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary) and showed a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group for the Year. The management
had provided sufficient explanation and information
to the Board on the consolidated financial statements
to enable it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before it for
approval. The independent auditor of the Company had
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Internal control is fundamental to the successful
operation and day-to-day running of a business and it
assists a company in achieving its business objectives.
Internal control policies and procedures within the
Group are updated regularly with the primary objective
of providing general guidance and recommendations
on a basic framework of risk management and internal
control systems (“Control Systems”).

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s
internal control measures and procedures covering
all material controls, including operational, financial
and compliance controls; and (ii) risk management
functions in its principal subsidiaries of the Company
for the Year.

A. Goals and objectives

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
Control Systems. Such Control Systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
e safeguarding assets;

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports;

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws; and

e promoting effectiveness and efficiency of
operations.

B. Internal Control
1. Governance Control
The control structure of the Control Systems
has been established since 26 June 2023 is set
out as follows:

The Board
e responsible for the overall Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

e oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing

basis with the assistance of the Audit
Committee;
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* ensure the maintenance of appropriate and s ERHEFESBRBHD
effective Control Systems; SR RAR

e define management structure with clear lines e HIEBBESERER
of responsibility and limits of authority; and NEBRE: &

e determine the nature and extent of significant e EBTEANIMEREHE
risks (including ESG risks) that the Group BEfMBAECSE KRR
is willing to take in achieving the strategic A(@%%’iiﬁ TErE
objectives and formulate the Group’s risk R EERREE -
management strategies. ﬁ%JEI%@ZH =

RS -

Audit Committee EBREEE

e review and discuss the Control Systems with s BEHEBEEMRSI WY
the management annually to ensure that EL AR - LIRS IR
the management has performed its duty BEITHBEMUERS
to maintain effective Control Systems. This MBYERIEARR © 345 5w
discussion also includes the adequacy of BEAEESS AY
resources, staff qualification and experience, B R B 75 B SR B8 e
training programs and budget of the Group’s BER B1ERSKER
accounting, internal audit and financial BIRERBE TR
reporting function; 4

* review the nature and extent of significant s RBFEXEAR (BEIR
risks (including ESG risks), and the Group’s B IsREBRAER)Z
ability to respond to changes in its business MEREE DURAEE
and the external environment; FEHHEHZEFRRINDIRIE

BEE D

e consider major findings on internal control o EERNININE HED
matters (if any) raised by internal or external BHBEANLEESE
auditors and make recommendations to the NESRIR (WE)WH
Board; and ESSREEZE R

e review and discuss annually with the s HTRMIWEIHAILR
significant control failings or weaknesses INEB R BN IR RIBEDH
that are identified and raised by the internal < B REBEEHIYA
and external auditors. E°

Executive Committee HiTEZEE

* review the effectiveness of ESG-related risk e RBIREBE MTBRED
management and internal control systems MHEEkEEE RN ER
and report to the Audit Committee for its BRI BRI O
review. BEESBREUHER

5V
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The management (includes CEO, heads of
business units, departments and divisions)

design and implement the Control Systems’
policy and procedures duly endorsed by
senior management and the Board;

monitor the Control Systems properly and
ensure that they are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in their day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters raised
by internal or external auditors;

provide written confirmation to the Board
on the effectiveness of the Control Systems;
and

prepare organization charts to show the
reporting relationships within the operation
and management to establish lines of
responsibilities.

Internal Audit Department/External
Professional

carry out the analysis on sample basis and
independent appraisal of adequacy and
effectiveness of the Control Systems in
respect of all material controls, including
operational, financial and compliance
aspects;

alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities, if any, and advise
them on the implementation of necessary
steps and actions to enhance the internal
controls of the Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans to the Audit
Committee and the Board on regular basis.
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Operational Controls
During the Year, the management had analyzed

the control environment,

identified risks

pertaining thereto, and implemented various
controls therein as follows:

Vi.

Vii.

Approach taken: The management
communicates with relevant staff, reviews
relevant documentation of the Control
Systems and evaluates findings of any
deficiencies in the design of the Control
Systems, then provides recommendations
for improvement and assesses the
effectiveness of implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of review on the Control
Systems will be reported to the Audit
Committee annually;

Procedure manuals and operational
guidelines: To safeguard the assets against
unauthorized use or disposition and ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records
that are in compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal
use and/or external publication;

Management information system and
technology: To control over the business
activities, it allows close tracking of various
inputs and outputs of the Group’s business
such as products and customer relationship
and human resources. It also tracks audit
trails in the authorisation system, under
which permissions and responsibility of
authorisation are clearly identified and
adequate records can be maintained in the
Control Systems;

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on
regular basis;

Information flow: The transparent information
flow alerts the management promptly of
any deviations. Benchmarking with historical
database and comparisons with the same also
acts as a detecting device for spotting unusual
activities;

Safeguarding of assets: Regular physical
count of petty cash and fixed assets with
reconciliation to ledgers are performed by
Finance and Accounts Department; and

Service quality control: Regular review on
digital platforms of business segments to
ensure the service quality.

New Media Lab Limited $TE &8RS 2023 Annual Report 3R 43 H‘HHHH

EEEE

EIEFW BB DT
BIEIRIE ~ BRI EHABR AR -

Wt BB N 2B R

Vi.

Vii.

FRERENFS % - S22 048
BETETER WEE
B AR AR B M R 5T
G AR RSP AT &
IR ETRE - RERLN
EEMRBEHEZERTG
EREHEEZE BRI
([HBH) - B AR S
%%@@&%ﬁ ESieH
ERBUEES

EFFMmEEERES] : R
[EEE - LR R RER
AR E - WtRETE
JEED e ﬁ%&iﬁf%
SEEEED Daf?\' J/J\TKE{
%%&éﬂ1@%@%
&/ HEINTE

EIRERRM R =
HZEF a8 - EFBLIB
MAEEBXEHSIBH
ARBH  WERRZS
BIRUARANDEIR - HIN
RIBEAGBHERR
& Bl BEFIRE
TEEEHRR & EIER
ROGEEEHELHR

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%&
AT 5

{nlﬁlllb EJ% 891 YON %_5
&ﬁkﬁ%@@&ﬂﬁ
7= - DUBHBURBRESE
&@2%@?%?%%
I%/:SEZ]ZLA/A Ig

RIEEE : UBE RS0
PYERREREEE
EETCHEMRE 1
BOBRETHER R

BR#5 8 B3 = E%%%
EB DR S
RERFRE -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEieHE

3. Financial Controls
i. Policies, procedures and systems are in place
to ensure proper accounting records are
maintained which provide complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management
information;

ii. Financial budget and forecast of the Group
are prepared and reviewed regularly to
ensure any action can be taken to mitigate
any changes in conditions and market
accordingly;

iii. Financial management reports are provided
to all Directors and senior management
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance,
financial position and prospects in sufficient
details;

iv. Operational reports on revenue, debtors’
ageing and internal financial analysis are
prepared to the management which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s operation performance;

v. Available fund report and cash flow forecast
are reviewed to monitor the cash flows of the
Group; and

vi. Annual audit by external auditor is carried
out to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements and individual companies’ financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations.

4. Compliance Controls
The following policies and procedures are in
place to safeguard the compliance control:

i. Systems and procedures on disclosure
of inside information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if
required), that any material information which
comes to the knowledge of any one or more
officers should be promptly identified, assessed
and escalated, where appropriate, for the
attention of the Board. The Board shall make
timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary,
and take appropriate measures to preserve
confidentiality of inside information until proper
dissemination of inside information;
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Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which
shall be reviewed and monitored regularly
by the Corporate Governance Committee as
delegated by the Board in order to ensure
that the Group is in compliance with all the
applicable laws, statues, rules and regulations
and keep up on any legal developments;

Continuing Connected Transaction
Compliance Committee is established
to monitor, control and regularly review
exempted connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions of the
Group and ensure proper compliance with
all relevant laws and regulations, the Listing
Rules and disclosure requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy is established to
provide reporting channels and guidance
for employees and related third parties
who have business dealings with the Group
(e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
about any suspected misconduct or
malpractice within the Company. The Audit
Committee, delegated by the Board, shall
ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation
of any concerns raised, appropriate
follow up actions are taken and other
recommendations are provided, if thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to
outline the Group’s zero-tolerance stance
against bribery and corruption and assists
employees in recognizing circumstances
that may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical
business conduct, so as to avoid such
conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance where necessary
or report any reasonably suspected case
of corruption or any attempts thereof, to
the management through an appropriate
reporting channel; and
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vi. Anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing policy and procedures
is established to set out the general
framework for combating crime against
money laundering and financing of
terrorism. It provides guideline to combat
money laundering and terrorist and help
the Group’s employees identify and assess
clients/customers/suppliers/vendors/
contractors/transactions/activities of
high risk of money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and take
appropriate measures and actions

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by
Internal Audit Department/external professional
regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed action
plans should be reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board on timely basis.

C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process
The Management regularly reviews overall
risks faced by the Group and changes in
market environment. The risk management
process includes risk identification, evaluation,
management and control measures.

The management is entrusted with duties to
identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor
and communicate risks associated with any
activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated
by the Board and management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risks on the Group’s
finance and operations; and (ii) the probability
and frequency that the risks will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risk as follows:

- Risk elimination - the management may
identify and implement certain changes
or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.

- Risk mitigation - the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity
of the risk to an acceptable level or
contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.
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- Risk control and monitoring - it involves
making decisions regarding which risks
are acceptable and how to address
those that are not. Accidents and other
situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as
part of the effort to manage risks.

- Risk retention - the management may
decide that the risk rating is low enough
that the risk is acceptable level and no
action is required and the risk will continue
to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable
level.

(2) Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified
through the process of risk identification and
assessment. Such significant risks of the Group
and their respective key strategies/control
measures are set out below:

1. Strong competition and competitive
market environment in digital advertising
business
e Periodically review and adjust the

business strategic plans to cope with
the competition.

e |nvestment on the Group’s media brand
awareness to differentiate from other
competitors.

2. The business relies heavily on third-party
social media platform for distribution of
contents
e Monitor the updates of third-party

social media platform policy.

e Maintain a well-developed platform team
to adapt any changes of third-party
social media platform policy.

e Monitor and adapt the audience
preference, expand or diversify the
Group’s digital distribution channels.
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3. The contents may expose the Group to
potential liabilities, damages to brand
names and reputation

Before any publication of contents or
advertisement on our media platforms,
there is a set of internal control for
reviewing and checking the compliance
of all regulatory requirements and
quality of our publications.

Stay alert to public information in
different media, in particular to that
involving the brand and reputation of
the Group’s media brands.

When aware of any adverse
publicities or rumours, the Group’s
Communications Department follow up
and make clarification or disclaimer to
the public quickly. If the case is serious,
legal action may be taken.

4. IT systems/programming errors or other
defects disrupting our business operations
and cyber security risk

The Company’s IT infrastructure is
regularly scanned and patched and
make sure the maintenance support is in
place.

Regular backups of data for recovery.
Access rights to the Group’s systems
are strictly controlled and regularly
reviewed.

Training of proper use of the systems
are provided to staff regularly.

Risky external IP addresses are blocked.

Emails are filtered for spam and
malware and training about dangerous
email attachments are provided.

Specialized ransomware/virus detection
software is installed in all computers.
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5. People retention and talent acquisition
e Ensure competitiveness of the
compensation policy with supervision
by Remuneration Committee.

e Forster the “Continuous Improvement”
corporate culture.

e Develop and implement staff development
and learning programmes.

e Clear line of sight on career ladder.

e Maintain regular dialogues with staff on
personal goals for career advancement.

e Develop and implement staff recognition
and work-life balance programmes.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received
a confirmation from the management on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems of the Group
for the Year. The Audit Committee and the Board,
upon reviewing the Control Systems, were not
aware of any significant issues that would have
an adverse impact on the effectiveness and
adequacy of the Group’s operational, financial and
compliance areas of the Control Systems.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting
out the principles for the Board to determine
appropriate amount of dividend to be distributed
to the Shareholders. The Company intends to
provide Shareholders with regular interim and final
dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attributable to its Shareholders after taking into
consideration of the factors as stated in the policy,
including inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for
business operations; (ii) cash available, financial
liabilities and capital commitment; (iii) market
environment and challenges; and (iv) future
development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such
payment shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules
and regulations including but not limited to the Listing
Rules, the applicable laws of Cayman lIslands and the
Articles of Association.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy
(available on the website of the Company) sets
out the strategies, practices and commitment for
maintaining ongoing and effective communication
with Shareholders, both individual and institutional,
and in appropriate circumstances, the investment
community at large so as to enable them to engage
with the Company and exercise their rights as
shareholders in an informed manner. To this end,
the Company strives to ensure that all Shareholders
have ready and timely access to all publicly available
information of the Group. To facilitate communication
with Shareholders and the investment community,
the Company has established various communication
channels, as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs and
extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”), if any, which
may be convened for specific purposes to provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Board; (ii) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/
or circulars as required under the Listing Rules and
press releases providing updated information of
the Group; (iii) the availability of latest information
of the Group on the Company’s website at
https://www.NewMedialLab.com.hk; (iv) the holding of
press conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting
with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participate investor road show and sector conference.

Regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders
and general presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors
are welcome to visit the Company’s website to raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department
whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website and the “Corporate Information and Key Dates”
section of this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for substantial separate issues, including re-election of
retiring Directors. The Company’s notice to Shareholders
for AGM is sent to Shareholders at least 21 clear days
before the meeting and notices of all other general
meetings are sent to Shareholders at least 14 clear days
before the meetings. The Chairman of the Board and the
chairman/members of the Board Committees, appropriate
management executives and the independent auditor
are available to attend the general meetings to answer
questions from the Shareholders. With the assistance of
the Company Secretary, the Chairman of the meeting
had explains the procedures for conducting a poll voting
during the meeting.
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The Company shall review the Shareholders’
Communication Policy annually to ensure its
implementation and effectiveness. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
in place during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023 and remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to
the CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per
share basis, shall have the right to submit a written
requisition for attention of the Board or the Company
Secretary, requiring an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business or resolution
specified in such requisition and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to
convene an EGM for a day not more than 2 months
after the date of deposit of such requisition, the
requisitionist(s) may convene a physical meeting at
only one location which will be the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or
the Cayman Companies Act for Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene an EGM in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on
the Company’s website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In preparation for the Company’s listing on the Stock
Exchange, the Company has adopted the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association,
which became effective on the Listing Date. There was
no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2023. The Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and
monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with applicable standards. Members of the Audit
Committee were of the view that. Ernst & Young
(“EY”) is independent and had recommended the
Board to propose its re-appointment as the Company’s
independent auditor at the 2024 AGM. During the Year,
EY had rendered audit services and non-audit services
to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to it
by the Group is set out as follows:

Service rendered Pt AR TS
Audit services B R 75
Non-audit services IERBURFS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% MRS

EY::

To the shareholders of New Media Lab Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of New Media Lab Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 143,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

NV S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our

PAREZSEIE (&)
RPICIEET S ARE [N 2=
HESUBRBRAENS T PO
MNET  AFRELEREsIEE
MBINE T - B - HPIBBHEIEH
FREMOER MRS PR BE
35 85 K 55 2R B b LB B ST © TR P9 2R
MIEENEE AERE FTYEEY
25 AR MEERFSHBEREYN
B AR

audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Key audit matter

FAREXEIR

EZRWNRECRBEEEERCERE R

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade
receivables amounting to approximately
HK$62.7 million, representing approximately
22% of its total assets.

[82023F12H318: S£ENESZRNRENR
62,700,00087C  (h HIREEK22% ©

Significant management judgements, estimates
and assumptions are required in assessing
the loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on trade receivables. The Group
uses a provision matrix, or other applicable
approaches, to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. Generally, the provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historical loss
experience, supplemented/substituted by
relevant external information as appropriate,
especially when there is insufficient source of
appropriate entity-specific data. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
loss experience/relevant external information
with current and forward-looking information.
At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates/relevant external information are
updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

RGBS EIRIBRERSIE ([RBEESIE])
LEBRER SEEARFHEXRAE L RR
Fo SEEXRARBREIHEHMBRALOAFEES
ENRENBHEEEE - —RMS  BiERERD
Pl SEBERPHELCRRER  BLIABEINIERN
ER7e,/ B BRIREBEERBRERRRERAEN
Bt SEERRNERRE UMERRAEEER
BREPEEEEER TEEIITER -RIRED
- EPBRAVEOR 1B EREBINI DT
BUBEIEGET Y E) -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HMINEsH A CIARRBAR B EIR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables

We evaluated the Group’s assessment
and determination of the loss allowance
for ECLs on trade receivables. The key
procedures we performed on evaluating the
methodology, assumptions and estimates
used in the assessment and determination
included, inter alia, the following:

HFIEGSt EEEHEZRINBERHERE
B BBERENNGRERE -BMARGEEER

BREAMADA  R&

[BETRERRNERESE

B(HPEE)UTSE:

we obtained an understanding
of the Group’s key policies and
procedures for the assessment and
determination of the loss allowance
for ECLs on trade receivables, as well
as certain key factors that affected the
underlying assumptions and estimates,
including, inter alia, the Group’s
historical loss experience/relevant
external information, and the current
and forecast economic conditions
considered,;
ZFITHS SEBEFGERETCEZIEBIR
BERBEEEERFNERERRES MU
FTEMERRRGETNETERRER &
B(EDEE) S£ENEREBER
MEINLER  DIRZESR] R I8
BRI 5




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% MRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FAREXKEIR (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAEZEIR

HPINEHAIRREAR B SIR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables

ESRNRECRBGEERERE R

For the year under review, the loss allowance
for ECLs on trade receivables of the Group
has been determined by management with the
assistance from an independent professionally
qualified valuer (the “external valuer”).
ROBFEER > SE£EEZRNNERHBEEHIE
BECBEREDEEBRAERIISXSERSGER
([9NBRIS1E8m ) ) BYHBE) FNERE -

The assessment of the correlation among
historical loss experience/relevant external
information, current and forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions.

TEEPLEBEER EEINTER 281 R IBAE
%R@%%E%%EZW%W@@E BEZG5t-
JERE BB E N TR Y IRIE R I8 A FE 7 AR e 8Y & &)
JEBHUK -

We identified this assessment as a key audit
matter due to the magnitude of the balance
involved and the significant management
judgements and estimates involved in
determining the loss allowance for ECLs on
trade receivables.
BRAEBGHROVBEMURIRECE ZBINREHE
EBECEERBERIREREEBHE RGOS &
PR LEERBRENSIE -

The related disclosures about significant
accounting judgements and estimates and
the information about the loss allowance for
impairment of trade receivables are included
in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
SASBFTHERGFTOEEEEURE ZEUIGRIE
BEBERBNVERERND S RIFSHIFRKMN
3516 °
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we assessed certain key assumptions
and estimates made in the Group’s
assessment;
PGS EBEBEFTLPMENE TR
EEIEEE

we evaluated the objectivity, capabilities
and competence of the external valuer
engaged by the Group;

PGS SEEZBVIGEMNE
Bt e D RBEME:

we involved our internal specialists to
assist us in evaluating the methodology
used and certain key assumptions and
estimates made in the assessment,
with reference to market and/or other
relevant information; and

RPIABERBEM2EDHERAE
MAERERNGERBTBOEMRME
HE FERERRRIGE &

we tested, on a sample basis, the
underlying ageing analysis of the
Group’s trade receivables by checking
to the Group’s supporting information,
and the arithmetic accuracy of the
calculation of the loss allowance for
ECLs on trade receivables.
ZffIZEBRE SEENSEER B
GRS f%l?%rwmﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
T URSTEEBZRINRIBRBEEHE
BIERENSMAERM-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* |ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FlNANClAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
RERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZE2023F 12833180 LFE

202 JEERES

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
bt 51 FiEx FBT

REVENUE L§: 5 220,885 240,678
Other income and gains HMUW A BRI & 5 4,430 7,311
Employee benefit expense EERMNEX (100,901) (94,684)
Production costs BUEMA (54,909) (59,522)
Printing costs ED R A (2,829) (2,982)
Depreciation and amortisation TE &4 (16,966) (17,079)
Other expenses, net HMERFHR (27,074) (21,252)
Finance costs RERA 7 (3,766) (5,626)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R %5t 0 o2 7 6 18,870 46,844
Income tax expense e 10 (4,345) (7,413)
PROFIT FOR THR YEAR FREF 14,525 39,431
Attributable to: A RALREL:

Owners of the parent SYNSIEZSPN 14,525 39,431
EARNINGS PER SHARE BNAREEREREBA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EisERBR

ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted EAXREE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RESZTEWER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & F2023F 128310 1LFE

2023 R

HK$°’000 HK$’000

FiET FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 14,525 39,431
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hi fth 2 0 U g
INCOME
Other comprehensive income HZEHTEEEZH DEE
that may be reclassified to BmtVEMETE N
profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
Exchange differences on REBINEFRERERE
translation of foreign
operations 79 32
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FAZEUMHMBER
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 14,604 39,463
Attributable to: ARATLFES:
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZZSWYN 14,604 39,463
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBBIRR

31 December 2023 2023F1283318

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Kt 5+ Fi&rx FBT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB K% 1E 13 19,841 22,610
Right-of-use assets REEE 14 52,086 62,789
Intangible assets B|EEE 15 256 408
Prepayments, deposits and YEUNRIE T REMEI

other receivables SN} 17 2,983 2,960
Deferred tax assets EALRBEE 23 665 508
Total non-current assets ERBDEERE 75,831 89,275
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Trade receivables B2 R INRE 16 62,663 71,470
Prepayments, deposits and YEURIE T REMEIN

other receivables SN} 17 4,243 9,144
Tax recoverable EPENEEE] 2,292 -
Pledged bank deposit BIEBRTER 18 800 800
Cash and cash equivalents RERIRESEY 18 142,738 19,930
Total current assets MENEEMRE 212,736 101,344
CURRENT LIABILITIES R (E
Trade payables =) ANE/NE 19 6,398 6,107
Oher payables and accruals HiWENIRIBRESTER 20 20,296 18,371
Interest-bearing bank StRIBTER

borrowings 21 - 21,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 9,412 10,536
Tax payable EfNRIB 99 3,594
Total current liabilities mENS SR 36,205 59,608
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEPE 176,531 41,736
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT AEERAEEE

LIABILITIES 252,362 131,01
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JFEiREHE(E
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 45,074 52,956
Provision Bm 22 6,557 6,557
Total non-current liabilities ERnBEERE 51,631 59,513
Net assets ESEFE 200,731 71,498

|

EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners B/\THHE AEIGIERS

of the parent
Issued capital BRITRA 24 6,000 -
Reserves BiEs 26 194,731 71,498
Total equity EnlRE 200,731 71,498

|

Lee Yat Pui, Royce Wong Chi Fai

F—ig
Executive Director

WITEF

o

Executive Director

WITESE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RoEmBNR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATHBAEG
Exchange
Issued  fluctuation Other Accumulated Total
Notes capital reserve reserves losses equity

W DRORE ERREGE RtER PR EnRE
HK$000  HK$00O  HK$000  HKS000  HK§'000
TEr  TBr  TBm  TEtr  TEn

(note 24) (note 26)
(Hir5t24) (Hirz£26)
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1F18 - 16 93,407 (49,388) 44,035
Profit for the year FARA - - - 39431 39431
Other comprehensive income for the year, EREHZENE:
Exchange differences on AERNEENERER
translation of foreign operations - 32 - - 32
Total comprehensive income for the year EAZENEEE - kY] - 39431 39,463
Interim dividend DERS n - - - (12000)  (12,000)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F125318 - 48" 93,407* (21957) 71498
I NS IS S
Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREAEL
Exchange
Issued Share  fluctuation Other Accumulated Total
Notes capital  premium reserve  reserves losses equity
G CRTRE ROER ExRBERE EhRR RHER  #5eH
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$’000
Fi&n FiEr Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n
(note 24) (note 26)
(Hit24) (Wit26)
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1518 - - 48 93,407 (21,957) 7,498
Profit for the year FRET - - - - 14,525 14,525
Other comprehensive income for ~ EREMNZ BN
the year
Exchange differences on RERIEBNER
translation of foreign =8
operations - - 79 - - 79
Total comprehensive income for ~ FAZENZEE
the year - - 79 - 14,525 14,604
Capitalisation issue BAET 24(b) 4500  (4,500) = - - -
Issue of shares pursuanttoa  RERHEZERTRA
share offer 24(c) 1,500 136,500 - - - 138,000
Share issue expenses RIDBOES - 33 = - - (13,37)
Interim dividend DERE n - - - - (10,0000 (10,000
At 31 December 2023 R2023E128318 6,000 118,629* 127 93,407 (17432 200,731
I I IS S N
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * SR EESREBRESUBRIREAD
reserves of HK$194,731,000 (2022: HK$71,498,000) RO B K194,731,000/8 7T (20227F ¢
in the consolidated statement of financial position. 71,498,000/87T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERBRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & 588 IRE B4

ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R AT Al
Adjustments for: WA TS IEFE
Finance costs MERAN
Interest income A B

Depreciation of property, plant Y% BEKZEITE
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use CHEEERE
assets
Amortisation of intangible B EE#E
assets
Reversal of impairment of trade ZZENRIERE
receivables, net B0 38
Decrease in trade receivables B 2R IRIB B
Decrease/(increase) in B RIE - 2T REMBINR
prepayments, deposits and BRD, (5E10)
other receivables
Increase in trade payables Y ANEIEN-YIN
Increase/(decrease) in other HEtmENRBRESTER
payables and accruals g1,/ (Rd)
Cash generated from operations K BELCRE
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBNER
Net cash flows from operating REEHMEREAS TR
activities
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Notes

Hitst

HK$’000 HK$' 000
FiEx FET
18,870 46,844
3,766 5,626
(3,121) (93)
4,356 3,989
12,270 12,620
340 470
(1,186) (360)
35,295 69,096
9,993 7,704
4,966 (608)
291 668
1,583 (12,900)
52,128 63,960
(10,289) (4,434)
41,839 59,526




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REHERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment

Additions to intangible assets

Net cash flows from/(used in)
investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of new
shares, net

Interest paid

Dividend paid

New bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Principal portion of lease
payments

Interest portion of lease
payments

Net cash flows from/(used in)
financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCE
OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

REGHIERETFE

EEAR
BENX BERREERE

MNEEVEE
REGBAHE,/ (FTH)
RENEFR
MESHNERGAE
BIIFRDTERB IR
ENAR
ENRR
FRTIEER
BEROTEE
HETRAZBD
HENRZHRBD

MEBENE/ (FTA)
R8P

ReERRESEY
B0,/ (D) 38

FOREERESEY

NERIEREOE

ANNS

Nuw il
255

FRRGEERGSEY

ReERRESENGHROM

R RRITGEH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

New Media Lab Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 March 2021.
The address of the registered office of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The principal place
of business in Hong Kong of the Company is located
at 8th Floor, Tower 1, The Quayside, 77 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 17 July 2023.

During the year, the Group was involved in the
following principal activities:

e provision of digital and print advertising products
and services, and related businesses (collectively,
“digital and print media businesses”)

* magazine and book publishing

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
immediate holding company and the ultimate holding
company of the Company are New Media Lab Group
Holdings Limited and Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
(“AY Holdings”), respectively, both of which are
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and
AY Holdings is legally wholly owned by First Trust
Services AG acting as the trustee of The Albert Yeung
Discretionary Trust, a private discretionary trust set up
by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”).

For the purposes of these financial statements, all
companies (including their respective “associates” (for
this particular sentence and in this specific context,
have the meaning as defined under Rule 14A.12-15 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange)) directly or indirectly controlled by
respective private discretionary trusts set up by Dr.
Albert Yeung other than the Group are collectively
referred to as the “Emperor Group”.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

NAREBSEE (=)

Information about subsidiaries ERAMEAINER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as R2023F128318 ARG EZE
at 31 December 2023 are as follows: NEAI<EFBUT:

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Issued ordinary of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal
and business registered capita[ the Company activities
it/ ERGERRE/
HRRESNE GUELS AAGRIERRENE EERR
Direct Indirect
BEf 3
New Media Group Limited BVI HK$78,000 100 - Investment holding
FEREBERAT ABRUEE 7800057 RERR
New Media Group Digital Hong Kong HK$?2 - 100 Investment holding and digital media
Services Limited 355 281 business
FERIBREERAT REPRRITRESR
Media Publishing Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Magazine and ook publishing, digital
REHRERAT &k BT and print media businesses and
copyright holding
EIRERDR ARROARERE
RipERE
New Media Services Consultant  Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of group administrative
Company Limited e 28T services
HERREBEERLT RUESEINRS
Time Year Limited Hong Kong HK$?2 - 100 Trademark holding and licensing
REERLT &5 2B RHERERSTT
Guangdong Xinchuan Network — The People’s Republic RMB6,500,000 - 100 Provision of group information
Technology Company of China (the “PRC")/ 6,500,000\ R technology support services
Limited* (note () Mainland China RUEEFEIREERE
ERFEERRRERLAT e\ &8
(W) ([0@))/DExE
NMG (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong HKS! - 100 Magazine publishing and digital and
Limited &E 187 print media businesses
B REBRORREER
*  The English names of this entity registered in the PRC * BREERUESRTOETRE

N2 AILAEPBIEE ML
SEOANDEREBEDEEY
EHPNBEME-

M5t -

(a) ERFEBBERNREBEATIRE
PEAEEAMRINEBE -

EREIHESBRSBAELE
FTAXBENEBZERNERNA
SEEEFEERLBOAHNAE
BEMNEREZARIWER
J-ESBRIEEEMMWELT
LEBIERBERITE

represents the best efforts made by the management
of the Company to directly translate its Chinese name
as it does not register any official English name.

Note:

(a) ERFEBEREEIR/ATD is registered as a wholly-

foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group, or
of particular importance to the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. E5tHE
2.1BASIS OF PREPARATION Q1 RNE®

These financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.
These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and Policies
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform -
HKAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.

(b) Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

©

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments did not have any significant impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon initial application.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to
help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The
Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020
Amendments”)’ 4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)" 4

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and
2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation
5 Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with
no change in conclusion
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring
the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3Eﬁﬁf;§

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate,
at the date of initial application. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred
is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. gﬁﬂﬂl%(%g
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24T ESEHME (&)

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE
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2. B HE (#B)

24T BEHHE (&)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New Media Lab Limited 51/ tEIBRADT

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill
is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of

that person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or

2023 Annual Report T

FEMESERE (=)

BEGCEREREERBE
B E IO % RS -
RGERBER B5HK
RIRETARE DA KR RITE
MEBHEBKEEENREE
RERRCRATITIREEIR
B-BEGERELHEHE
30K

1B

REBREWR - BDSHGR
SENRBRNEBAEEERZ
BEBEABEEENTEER
Do BRSNS Al8E
ﬁTW@%ﬁ bR g
BRETCXEELIWNODE
@2{@&%%@%%@%
WB@&ZEE%EET%
O HEBEBRTEASBER
RBETEWENZIBEE
ﬁW/@%EﬁE TR
BE (BHRETOFE #
) - B0 REBEBIREL
HE5t A8 o

BEAL
ETIBERT SHALE
RRREBZHEAL:

(@) HRUTATHERE
ms&zATLT

() HASEEHBZH
REDUH R

(i) HAEEBSE
B3

(N RAEBTAEE
BRINEEER
=K




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE (&)

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24T ESEHIE (&)
(continued)
Related parties (continued) BIEATLT (&)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the (b) ZORER  METLLT
following conditions applies: eSS EICE

O]

@i

(iii)

(iv)

V)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(h ERRAEERMQ
—&EBRE:

(DEBRR =8
(H2—EBZHA
5 WBATAEH
WEAD) BB
TASEEE

i

(NZEBBAEER
BE—%=pHrsd
B

(VBEBRF=OLSE
BiX -M3—88
RE=-DEBR

BT

(v) ER R A E D
FEEEHECHE
2’ 2 B M B
2 B 1B % 18 A Bt

8l

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly (i) ZEEZ(a)TH Bl
controlled by a person identified in (a); AT A B I G

il 5
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant i) (@)(DETHEBIA T
influence over the entity or is a member EREFEATE
of the key management personnel of the NIRZER (DX

(viii)

entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group

B8R E
BEBENE R

i) ZEBEAAEB L

of which it is a part, provides key TRENRNT OAE

management personnel services to the BERAEEZSAT

Group or to the parent of the Group. REFESEEEAE
HE%"
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE (&)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2Q4FBEEHHE ()

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when
it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold Over the lease terms
improvements

Furniture, fixtures 20% to 33'/:%
and equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Mobile applications are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

IIIB)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. S5t R (=2
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24X EES

(continued)
Leases (continued) s (=)
RNEBERZAMEA (8)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) ERREEE

)
B (=)

(b)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any

CREEERESRG
B (BMEEEEIMH
ERE8)ER - -ERE
BEEZWMASIE  BEE
TR EREQRE
BE WHEESENE

remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost OEFTEIEHTEE -
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of REEENABEEE
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs BHESENRE BE
incurred, and lease payments made at or SEDBEERARIKRE
before the commencement date less any lease BB CBIEHBE
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are EREREQABIREE

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 2B - b RREE EREH
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated REEBSTIERATE
useful lives of the assets as follow: LBREERBIRAED
we - FEBUN:
Properties 2 to 8 years LYES 2%85F
Equipment 24 months Bed 2488

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an

HEEEENHBRE]
%ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁau@%&%ﬁ%
BOMARRITHEES
BIERE QIIRBEGSTT
CRTHFTENE-

(b) HEAE

HESEBERHESERLE
ZHEEHANESYR
iﬁ@ﬁ@w EENMREB

TR (SEEEH

ﬂﬁ)m IR EE
EIE - BRI
ENTRAENRUR

index or a rate, and amounts expected to be BPHREMNGEBER
paid under residual value guarantees. The VBT ER - HERIBIMN
lease payments also include the exercise price BIEAEBSERES
of a purchase option reasonably certain to PITELBEERITE
be exercised by the Group and payments of BERIFES SR 14
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease HEHRMRAEETH

term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments

IR PR RIE R - RIK
BRIEBRIL T2 T &

that do not depend on an index or a rate are HERBRENIREH
recognised as an expense in the period in which IR E BB ER
the event or condition that triggers the payment Rz

OCcCurs.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

©

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office premises and carparks (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Investments and other financial
assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BHHBE &)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24T ESHME (&)

(continued)

Investments and other financial
assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial
assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e,,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

* the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that

are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default

(a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified,
at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings or
payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.
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2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24X BEEHHE (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in the statement of profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liguid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present
obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as
a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement
is recognised as a separate asset, but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented
in the statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions (continued)

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised
when a contractual obligation under the terms of a
lease arrangement has arisen to reinstate a leased
property at the end of the lease. Reinstatement
costs are provided at the value of the expected
costs to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period using estimated cash flows and
an equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated
over the term of the lease arrangement. The
estimated future costs of reinstatement are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

08

2. B HE (&

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) #)
24FEBESFHHE ()

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

* in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE &)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.45;2: R (=)
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued) WS (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers EESKKE (&)

(continued)

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides
the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)Advertising revenues

Revenue from print advertising is generally
recognised at the point in time when the print
advertisement is published. For programmatic
advertising, revenues are generally recognised
as impressions are delivered. Revenues from
non-programmatic digital advertising are
generally recognised over the period that the
related products or services are delivered/
rendered, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group, or upon complete satisfaction of
the related performance obligation, such as, at
the point in time when the related product(s)
are published/delivered, based on the nature of
the products or services provided. Advertising
revenues are recognised net of provisions for
estimated sales incentives, including rebates,
rate adjustments or discounts, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE (&)

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24X BSEHHE (7)
(continued)
(a) Advertising revenues (continued) Q@QRBESWA (&)
Incentive arrangement BN HE

Specific incentives may be offered to certain
customers once certain advertising spending
amount for the relevant period exceeds
particular threshold specified in the contract.
To estimate the expected amount of incentives
to be offered, which in turn will affect the net
consideration that the Group will be entitled
under the arrangement, the Group applies the
method that it expects to better predict the
amount. The requirements on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are
applied and a liability relating to the expected
incentives is recognised as a reduction of
revenues (i.e., the amount not included in the
transaction price), based on the total amount
of estimated expected incentives related to
the underlying revenue transactions during
the reporting period. Measurement of such
expected incentives is estimated mainly based
on historical experience, current economic
trends and accumulated advertising spending
to date.

(b)Circulation revenues

Circulation revenues mainly include revenues
from sales/subscriptions of magazines and
books. Circulation revenue is based on the
number of copies of magazines and books
and/or digital subscriptions sold, and the
associated rates charged to the respective
customers, net of provisions for related
returns. Circulation revenue is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally
upon delivery of the magazines or books.
Revenue from subscriptions (including
digital subscriptions) is recognised over the
subscription term, generally as the printed or
digital publication is delivered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

provisions for returns of unsold copies of
magazines and books within certain period.
The Group generally uses the expected
value method to estimate the goods that will
not be returned because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are
applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. The Group records
the estimated impact of such returns as a
reduction of revenue (i.e.,, the amount not
included in the transaction price). To estimate
publications that will be returned, the Group
considers historical returns, current economic
trends and changes in end customers’ demand
and acceptance of the Group’s publications.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation
to refund some or all of the consideration received
(or receivable) from a customer and is measured
at the amount the Group ultimately expects it
will have to return to the customer. The Group
updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at
the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary
which operates in Mainland China are required
to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal governments.
The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability
when they are approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4AMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or
income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BFHEK (=

2.4MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)
The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Identification of a customer and gross versus net
revenue recognition

In the normal course of the Group’s businesses, an
intermediary may be involved. When the intermediary
is determined to be the Group’s customer, the Group
records revenue based on the amount it expects to
receive from the intermediary.

In other circumstances, the determination of whether
revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis
is based on an assessment of whether the Group is
acting as the principal or an agent in the transaction.
If the Group is acting as a principal in a transaction,
the Group reports revenue on a gross basis. If the
Group is acting as an agent in a transaction, the Group
reports revenue on a net basis. The determination of
whether the Group is acting as a principal or an agent
in a transaction involves judgment and is based on an
evaluation of the terms of the arrangement. The Group
is considered a principal if it controls a promised good
or service before transferring that good or service
to the customer. The Group considers several factors
to determine if it controls the good or service and
therefore is the principal. These factors include: (a) if
the Group has primary responsibility for fulfilling the
promise; (b) if the Group has inventory risk before
the good or service is transferred to the customer or
after the transfer of control to the customer; and (c) if
the Group has discretion in establishing price for the
specified good or service.

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of a contract with a renewal option

The Group has a lease contract that includes an
extension option. The Group applied judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to
renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew the lease.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAXSBFHHBN NG (&)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term
of a contract with a renewal option (continued)

The Group includes the renewal period as part of
the lease term for a lease of its office premises
due to the significance of the office premises to its
operations and the significant leasehold improvements
undertaken (or expected to be undertaken) over the
term of the relevant lease contract that are expected
to have significant economic benefits for the Group
when the option to extend that lease becomes
exercisable.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Revenue recognition-estimating variable
consideration for expected returns and incentives
The Group estimates variable consideration to
be included in the transaction price for certain
transactions, including the sales of magazines and
books subject to returns of unsold copies and certain
advertising arrangements subject to incentives
to customers. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are
applied in order to determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the transaction
price.

When estimating returns, the Group may use the
historical data of each product to come up with
expected return percentages. These percentages and
other relevant information including current economic
trends, changes in end customers demand and
acceptance of the Group’s publications are considered
to determine the expected value of the variable
consideration. Any significant changes in experience
as compared to historical return pattern will impact
the expected return percentages estimated by the
Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXSEHABNR G (&)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Revenue recognition-estimating variable
consideration for expected returns and incentives
(continued)

Determining whether a customer will likely be
entitled to an incentive depends on the customer’s
historical net advertising spending pattern and
incentive entitlements, current economic trends, and
accumulated net advertising spending to date. Any
significant changes as compared to historical net
advertising spending patterns and rebate entitlements
of customers will impact the expected incentive
percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns
and incentives at the end of each reporting period and
the obligations for returns and incentives are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected returns and
incentives are sensitive to changes in circumstances
and the Group’s past experience regarding returns and
incentives entitlements may not be representative of
customers’ actual returns and incentives entitlements
in the future.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives
are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXESHHIEN G (&)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provision for reinstatement costs
associated with a leased property attributable to the
Group based on an estimate of the expected costs
to be incurred to settle the relevant contractual
obligations under the terms of the lease at the
end of the reporting period, which are subject to
uncertainties and might differ from the actual costs
to be incurred. Significant judgements and estimates
are required, including, inter alia, making various
assumptions with reference to past experience and
available information to determine the expected costs
to be incurred. Further details are included in note 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix, or other applicable
approaches, to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
Generally, the provision matrix may initially be based
on the Group’s historical observed default rates,
supplemented/substituted by relevant external
information as appropriate, especially when there
are insufficient sources of appropriate entity-specific
data. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience/relevant external
information with forward-looking information. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates/
relevant external information are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates/relevant external information,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience/
relevant external information and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

New Media Lab Limited $TEt8BRAT 2023 Annual Report £, 103 H‘HHHH

fEstRiEeE (=)
B EME R

AEERBS AR BEEER
RN BEENEEMEL R
WA Bt —BEEWES
B AEBRGERMAIEL
B 8PEENMEERRI I B
RYELCERMATERE K
ESBRFHEXRAURGSH
PRESZBHKEREBEEERN
FHZBRE UECRBRE
%2@61 E— LS RERIRS
B P R By 5E 22 -

ESBEINIE < ERIIEEE SR
&
ANEBFE AR FEREREMER
TRt EE SR RIBENTEHIE
EEE-—MMS BiEET
DS RAEBBHARERIEN
RBREXE - WHEBS BN NUME
BN ERNF R,/ THER
EHRCBEEERFTIHE IR
B o REEBE IS 1E 3% F0 f DL 5 2
BEESHEKE 1IN E
RERTEEER - REREE - B
HAPERIENER 1BBEINLE
REBEH Mt bst 2B
SHUADMT -

¥IBAERANENZE BRI
HER BRI RBHE
EBEIR I BB IS
B—BEAGE-1BHEERIE
BB ZIRIE &8 BRI 8Y
BEFE AEBNELEES
1BIEERABERINSE B R B S 7S R
RBAMEROMAR—MIZLR
BRNEERENBR BEAE
BRNEZEACIBHEEEE
CERNRIGSYBRRRWEE65H

-
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group principally focuses on digital and
print media businesses and magazine and book
publishing. Information reported to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a
whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from
external customers during the current and prior
years were attributed to Hong Kong based on the
location in which the relevant Group’s activities
which generated such revenues were carried out.

(b) Non-current assets
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets
as at the end of the respective reporting periods,
excluding financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, were located in Hong Kong based on the
location of the assets.
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4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from respective external customers derived
from digital and print media businesses and magazine
and book publishing contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the respective years is as
follows:

Customer A ZHEA
Customer B =

Revenues from these customers include revenue
from a group of entities which are known to be under
common control of these customers.

* Less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group in
the respective years.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information

4.

BENBER (=)

ERTEEFNER

RESEBTERSSINSEZPLZ
WA EAREERBILABEBI0%R
EERGYSENGCEESEIVUSE i

EBEERERLT
HK$’000 HK$°000
Fi&x FE&T
N/A 3B 24,168
27,635

N/A A 5E B
——

REZSZTFHURARBREE
NEZESEHAAERN—HEE
B0 AN

© REBRABBEEERIAZI0%
DT

Ut ~ HL il WO B2 Ut 2
WS DT T

EF SN
() DIFWSERN

HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&rx FET
Types of goods or services Ao REES
Digital advertising (other than &HES
programmatic advertising) (ERESERIMN) 183,030 188,090
Programmatic advertising ERILES 28,504 41,079
211,534 229,169
Print advertising EORIES 6,760 8,608
Circulation 517 2,591 2,901
Total revenue from contracts ZEERIN SRR
with customers 220,885 240,678
&b |
Timing of revenue recognition UIZs & 37 0% R3
At a point in time REFEER 155,181 167,722
Over time fEZEE 65,704 72,956
Total revenue from contracts ZEERIN SRR
with customers 220,885 240,678
. &b. |
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that
were included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in pervious

5. Ui ~ Bt I B U as
(#)
EF S (&)

() DIFWZEX (#)
TREIRBSHASTAS
NEaBEnRKRBHERBME
RENSEMRARSHE
BN S 28R

periods:
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&rx FETT
Revenue recognised that RIRE AT ASK
was included in contract B5ENE BRI A -
liabilities at the beginning of
reporting period:
Circulation 317 223 255
Digital advertising HI/ES 1,158 1,226
1,381 1,481
| 2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&rx BT
Revenue recognised from RBAEBHEEREL
performance obligations STEEBOINE
satisfied in previous period:
Sale of goods not previously BRO# BRI
recognised due to constraints B RAERER VS &
on variable consideration =60 19 37
IS EE—

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Digital advertising (including programmatic
advertising)

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
when the related services are performed or
products are delivered/published, or over time as
services are rendered, and payment is normally
due upon delivery or within 90 days from the date
of billing.

HHHHH‘ 106 New Media Lab Limited $TEE8IBRAT 2023 Annual Report F£R

(i) BXIETE
BRAEBENSTIoER
BEaa0 T

HRES (BRERLE
&)
BREE—RIRTREER
BRAMY, B MERR X
R HRBET M
TR —BRRZNVBERAEER
B HE908 REH -




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Uz~ E fth U A Bz Ut 2s

(continued) (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFSHIS (=)

(continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued) (i) BXEE (&)
Print advertising EplE &

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon the print advertisement is published and
payment is generally due within 90 days from the
date of billing.

Circulation

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the magazines or books and
payment is generally based on terms agreed
by the relevant parties as set out in respective
agreements. For subscription revenue, payment
in advance or at the beginning of each relevant
period is normally required.

Practical expedient

As a practical expedient, the transaction
prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
are not disclosed because all the remaining
performance obligations are part of respective
contracts that have an original expected duration
of one year or less.

Other income and gains HL {th W A Bz U &
Bank interest income BITABUA

Accretion of interest on rental

deposit paid
Government subsidies BUNY f88E
Commission income AZUIA
Licensing of content AT
Sales of scraps HEBER
Others HAt

* The government subsidies represented subsidies
granted under the Employment Support Scheme
of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to the
subsidies.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRIR AR
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after REBRBRIDEA 2308, (5t
charging/(crediting): AN ATEE:

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Ky &t Fi& FET
Cost of goods sold and other EEBZREEIRERT
services rendered BYRA 57,738 62,504
Depreciation of property, ME- -HERREBITE
plant and equipment 13 4,356 3,989
Depreciation of right-of-use ([FHREEEITE
assets 14 12,270 12,620
Amortisation of intangible ML EE S
assets” 15 340 470
Lease payments not included K<t AEEEESISH
in the measurement of lease &R
liabilities 14 164 219
Auditors’ remuneration G 1,590 395
Listing expenses FhEx= 7,669 4,125
Employee benefit expense EERNEX (BFE
(including directors’ ERF2THMAEDN
and chief executive’s N (KEE8) ) -
remuneration (note 8)):
Salaries, bonuses, fees, FE A B
allowances and other 25 R AR A
benefits 97,479 91,259
Pension scheme RINZSHEIHE R
contributions* (REHEREE)
(defined contribution schemes) 3,422 3,425
100,901 94,684

Reversal of impairment of BZRNABRERD
trade receivables, net FRR 16 (1,186) (360)
Foreign exchange differences, I\ME =485 %8

net (26) (29)

IS

" The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is ~ FAEREEESESIAGRSER
included in “Depreciation and amortisation” in the KIFER#E K-

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

*  There are no forfeited contributions that may be *  ANEBWEIBERENLZK
used by the Group as the employer to reduce the HERPBEIREERKE R
existing level of contributions. At 31 December 2023, 2023F 1283318 AEE W E
the Group had no forfeited contributions available to ERWNERITEINBEREE
reduce its contributions to the pension scheme(s) in 2 BINE ST EI R (20224 -
future years (2022: NiD). ) o
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BUERAK
An analysis of finance cost is as follows: MERADTU D :

Note HK$°000 HK$’000
K&+ FET FET
Interest on bank borrowings R{TERF R 581 1,932
Interest on lease liabilities HMEBEBEMNR 14 3,185 3,694
3,766 5,626

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTETHAEMNE

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information

AREE REBLABS LMR
A (T EmRA) - SBLRIEA
%£383(H () (b)) (OOKEMER
EELT (WESEFNRER )R
RE2TRBECESRETEITH
ABEZBIZWT

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$ 000
FiET FET
Fees B 486 -
Other emoluments: HAEE
Salaries and allowances e RERS 2,112 2,112
Pension scheme contributions RIRZETEIHER 18 18
Subtotal N5t 2,130 2,130
Total fees and other emoluments 5% & E MBI R A8 2,616 2,130
(a)Independent non-executive directors Q@RI IFENTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive TRZNZBIIFENTES
directors during the year were as follows: BT :
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FiExT FET
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu =Bt 93 -
Mr. Mak Kam Chiu Z=Sinkillpivias 93 -
Mr. Niu Zhongjie ank: Nbivias 93 -
279 -

Save as disclosed above, there were no other
emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

B EVARESZIN - EAN
EENBIIFFNTESCH
fhEr BN (202265 : 7)) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. SEERTETHASHE

REMUNERATION (continued) (&)
(b)Executive directors and chief (b)ﬂ TESRIEETHA
executive

Pension
Salaries and scheme Total

allowances contributions remuneration

FRREN BRREH HERH

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TBT TET TET

2023 2023F
Executive directors: naEs:
Mr. Wong Chi Fai EDELE 69 - - 69
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce* ey 69 2,112 18 2,199
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa ~ SOEIEZ T 69 - - 69
207 2,112 18 2,337
IS SRS EEEEEEES  EEEEEe.
2022 2022F
Executive directors: naEs:
Mr. Wong Chi Fai EGELE = - - -
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce* T-BEs - 212 18 2130
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa  SOElfB& T - - - -
- 212 18 2130
[ T Ty
*  Chief executive officer * THBRE
There was no arrangement under which a director TR BMEESAETEZTH
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive AEWNRARDEME LT
any remuneration during the year. Bt <2 Bk
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included one (2022: one) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four
(2022: four) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

Salaries, allowances and other & KE2I5REMISH
benefits
Discretionary bonuses YIS TE AL

Pension scheme contributions ERTETE/HR
Total R5t

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

. h2aREHES

FR hPRoFEERE -3
(2022F:—¥)EF Hifl
SEBEN E M EE8 - HEAIUF
(2022F : (UR)WIANRNTES
YIEEBTHABCERSHRE
REACHEFBUOT:

HK$°000  HK$'000
FiET T8
5,476 5,712

688 -
72 72

6,236 5,784
E—

FMNT TN RECIFEERIF
TROBAEBRERSHFHIEEA
£ INNE

Number of employees

ES A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 875%21,500,000
BT 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 052,000,000
BT 3 1
Total REt 4 4

10.INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

For the subsidiary in Mainland China, Corporate
Income Tax has been provided at the rate of 25%
(2022: 25%) for the year.
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10.INCOME TAX (continued) 10.FRiG% (&)

Current - Hong Kong ENHE—&8
Charge for the year FASZH
Under/(over)-provision in BETERERRE,
prior years (BRAEE)
Current - Mainland China BIH— @A D
Charge for the year FASZHE
Overprovision in prior years BETFEBREG
Deferred (note 23) BT (HM5t23)

Total tax charge for the year AREERBEZHBEE

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory profits tax rate for Hong
Kong in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries operate/are domiciled to the tax charge at
the effective tax rate is as follows:

Profit before tax PR AR B0 A

| 2023 JELRE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiET T8
4,349 7,547
100 (13)
65 36
a2) -
(157) (157)

4,345 7,413
I

BRARYRAEAL DM BRI
B/ AMREBEENERR
SFECBARBRAIRA ZRIE
A< RIZERRASTEIRE
P HWRW T :

HK$°000 HK$’000
FiEx &7
18,870 46,844
IS EE———

Tax at the Hong Kong statutory  12&18/AERZE16.5% (2022

tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) F:16.5% )sTEZHIE

Higher tax rate enacted by BINERERNR SRR
overseas authority

Adjustments in respect of BB R IBERE
current tax of previous periods

Income not subject to tax BAEZERIA

Expenses not deductible for tax OIS

Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEBIE

Others H

Tax charge at the Group’s BAEBERRAFTEDN
effective tax rate RESZH
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11. DIVIDENDS " ®’S
[ 2023 [T
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&w FBT
Interim - HK$500 (2022: PR -SRZTBR5008TT
HK$600) per ordinary share (20227 : 6008 7T) 10,000 12,000

EEAN-SRISER.2
Bl (20224 « ##)

Proposed final - HK1.2 cents

(2022: Nil) per ordinary share 7,200 -

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
(“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

12.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
amounts is based on the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
of HK$14,525,000 (2022: HK$39,431,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
519,041,096 (2022: 450,000,000) in issue during
the year, as adjusted retrospectively to reflect the
capitalisation issue of the Company during the year
(note 24(b)).

In determining the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue, the capitalisation issue of the
Company during the year, as further detailed in note
24(b) to the consolidated financial statements, was
deemed to have been completed on 1 January 2022.

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are based on:

Earnings

Profit attributable to ordinary equity StE&REAR KL= RF HTH
NELIEBREZFEA

holders of the parent used in the
basic and diluted earnings per
share calculations

BERA
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39,431,000/870) RFERB &7
BRI 19 #(519,041,096
B2 (20224 450,000,000
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RERETERLERT (KEE
24(b)) )5t& -

RETCERTZ BRI IIH
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HK$’000 HK$°000
FiEr FE&T

14,525 39,431
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12.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT (continued)

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used
in the basic and diluted earnings

F& i

Az {1

SEBREAREERNMANATE
EEZOERRINEYIE (BB
WRENRRADTIRAEREST

12. 8\ EEREREBT A
SREN =)

Number of shares

Rir#E

2022

per share calculations, as adjusted LERCET)
retrospectively to reflect the
capitalisation issue of the Company
during the year 519,041,096 450,000,000
IS
13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 905~ BB R 5%
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment
ZH - -BRRE
HE®RE R
HK$°000 HK$°’000 HK$’000
FEn FER FERT
31 December 2023 2023%12A8318
At 1 January 2023: [R2023F1518 :
Cost WA 22,841 8,665 31,506
Accumulated depreciation REHME (4,359) (4,537) (8,896)
Net carrying amount RE¥E 18,482 4128 22,610
At 1January 2023, net of [R2023F1418
accumulated depreciation RREHTE 18,482 4,128 22,610
Additions =T 27 1,566 1,593
Depreciation provided during ~ FRFTELEE
the year (2,854) (1,502) (4,356)
Exchange realignment ERHAE - (6) (6)
At 31 December 2023, net of (82023128315 -
accumulated depreciation HRRFTIE 15,655 4,186 19,841
At 31 December 2023: [R2023F128318
Cost WA 22,872 10,048 32,920
Accumulated depreciation REHITE (7,217) (5,862) (13,079)
Net carrying amount REFE 15,655 4,186 19,841
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

13. 4% - = Mes& il (=)

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total
B BFEE
HER(E R#E ®5t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BT FBTT T8
31 December 2022 2022%F12R318
At 1 January 2022; [R2022F1818 -
Cost WA 22,363 8,613 30,976
Accumulated depreciation RETME (1,694) (4,31 (6,005)
Net carrying amount Fo3E 20,669 4,302 24,971
]
At 1 January 2022, net of [R2022F1818 -
accumulated depreciation HRREHE 20,669 4,302 24,971
Additions NE 631 997 1,628
Depreciation provided during ~ ERITER (S
the year (2,818) ax7n (3,989)
At 31 December 2022, net of  [R2022%128318
accumulated depreciation HRRETITE 18,482 4128 22,610
L = ===
At 31 December 2022: 120225128318 :
Cost WA 22,841 8,665 31,506
Accumulated depreciation REHITE (4,359) (4,537) (8,896)
Net carrying amount REFE 18,482 4128 22,610
L g === ]
14.LEASES 14.188
The Group as a lessee AEBERKEAA

The Group has lease contracts for various properties,
carparks and items of equipment used in its
operations. Leases of equipment generally have a
lease term of 24 months, while properties generally
have lease terms between 2 and 8 years. Certain
properties have lease terms of 12 months or less.

AEBHEEBPERNSEBY
X EEEERBEESK -RiE
HENWHEBBER24B5 MY
ENEHBBR2E8F -ETY
ENEBHRIEHATAA -
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14.LEASES (continued) 14.H8 (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERKEA (&)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EFREE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use FTARAAEBCREEESR
assets and the movements during the year are as BEREESFIIW N :
follows:
Properties Equipment Total
LVES 5 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET FET
As at 1 January 2022 1R2022F18318 69,602 512 74,714
Additions =1 695 - 695
Depreciation charge ESZY (10,063) (2,557) (12,620)
As at 31 December 2022 [R2022F128318 &
and 1 January 2023 20231818 60,234 2,555 62,789
Modifications E3 1,179 388 1,567
Depreciation charge iiN-Sdun (9,838) (2,432) (12,270)
As at 31 December 2023 132023F1253185 51,575 SN 52,086

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

(b) HEEE
TR HEEBENEBER

movements during the year are as follows: =g X N IENE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&rx FETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1IE1B 2 E®E 63,492 72,550
New leases FES - 695
Lease modifications HEBR 1,567 -
Accretion of interest FAREBA SIEN
recognised during the year 3,185 3,694
Payments IR (13,758) (13,447)
Carrying amount at 31 R12B318B2EEE
December 54,486 63,492
EE——
Analysed into: DN
Current portion MENER D 9,412 10,536
Non-current portion ERBE D 45,074 52,956
Lease liabilities repayable: EEEHERE:
Within one year —14F 9,412 10,536
In the second year B_F 9,426 8,548
In the third to fifth years, BE=—BENhTF
inclusive (BEEEMTE) 29,357 27,790
Beyond five years hF# 6,291 16,618
Carrying amount at 31 R12B31B2 RBEE
December 54,486 63,492
EEEE——
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14.LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in
relation to leases are as follows:

HEEEAR
CREEERE

Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation charge of right-
of-use assets

14.788 (&)
AEBERKRBEA (&)
(b) HEBE (&)

Lease payments not included st AHEESESFTENESE

in the measurement of lease YR (5t AE MBS -
liabilities (included in other  $%8)
expenses, net)

Total amount recognised in  RIB& PR BEE

profit or loss

(d) Extension option

The Group has a property lease contract that
includes an extension option. This option is
negotiated by management to provide flexibility
in managing the leased-asset portfolio and it is
aligned with the Group’s business needs. The
future lease payments relating to period following
the exercise date of the extension option are
included in the lease term to determine the right-
of-use asset and lease liability of the relevant

property.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed
in note 27(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

(e
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HEago23 DR
S REANWEEIIRE -

(©) E/S?/%\E/iqjﬁﬁnuﬁ?%*ﬂii\Z\
ga
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FEBTT
3,185 3,694
12,270 12,620
164 219
15,619 16,533
(d) EREIER

(e)

AREBHE—BRSEME
BIZEYWEHESKHN-B
EFEW&EL%TLU
EE DUEESBHEEEEMR
BHBREEITE UFS
AREBNEFFTR-BEMR
RIZREEITE D PRV IBAAE
B RRE TN ARETARE
B UETCHEEMENER
REEREESEE-
HECRTAHRERIES
W RITMNEF27 ()R E -




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z%2023F 1283318 I FE

15.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Mobile
application
mEEREN
HK$°000
+&7T
31 December 2023 20235F12H318
Cost at 1 January 2023 1R2023F 1818 2 A 408
Additions - acquired separately e BRI E 188
Amortisation provided during the year TS (340)
At 31 December 2023 /22023312331 256
|
At 31 December 2023: 1R2023F123318 -
Cost A 1,671
Accumulated amortisation REHEEH (1,415)
Net carrying amount R@FEE 256
|
31 December 2022 2022F12A31H
At 1 January 2022: [R2022F1818 -
Cost A 1,330
Accumulated amortisation RETETH (605)
Net carrying amount FE@EE 725
|
Cost at 1 January 2022 1R2022F 1818 2 A 725
Additions - acquired separately nE - BRUIE 153
Amortisation provided during the year TR EEE (470)
At 31 December 2022 /22022124315 408
|
At 31 December 2022: R2022F128318 -
Cost A 1,483
Accumulated amortisation RETETH (1,075)
Net carrying amount FE@FE 408
|
16.TRADE RECEIVABLES 16.8 7 [E I FRIR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Trade receivables BHEINRIE 66,495 76,570
Impairment E (3,832) (5,100)
Net carrying amount REFE 62,663 71,470
&b |
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

16.TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms/settlement arrangements
with its customers are generally based on specific
contractual terms or in accordance with specific
arrangements/trade practices with reference to
their historical payment records and/or business
relationships, which might include payment in
advance, payment upon delivery/service rendered
or with credit periods extending up to 90 days.
Settlements of circulation income from sales of
magazine are generally made by the respective
distributors to the Group around 10 days after
the verification of the quantity of magazines sold.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed by management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables at 31
December 2022 were amounts due from related
companies, which are members of a group in which
AY Holdings is the ultimate holding company (the “AY
Holdings Group”), of approximately HK$400,000,
which were unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts
due from members of the Emperor Group other
than the AY Holdings Group (“Other Members of
the Emperor Group”) of approximately HK$211,000
(2022: HK$1,612,000) as at 31 December 2023, which
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand.

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
trade receivables with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$50 million (2022: HK$66 million),
were pledged to secure a bank loan facility granted to
the Group (note 21).
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16. B ZEUFRIA (&)
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S —RZFESKERIR
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R2900 - KRB HEMIGRT
WA—RRREEEMTGHER
MMOBRBRSDHEBOAEES
B -AEBHKRNOZEIRIE
R EBEH-afBEHrBbeER
BRsy AEBWHNEBEUE

ZRBBHRITEEORBRIE
IR EEEBE - B2 EINRIEB
7/%%@\"

R2022F128318 A&EEHE
SRERNRBEDBEREIEE A
D REEWEXEERREDR
RRERATNEERNERD
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2023F12R3BENERZESH
ME (RESHNEXEERES
) (RSEBEMBKE]) <
B K9211,00058 75 (20224 :
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HiB 2B RBEREKRER-
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B 1E£150,000,000/8 71 (2022
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 1 month HEIEIR

1 to 3 months 1£23E8H
3 to 6 months 3Z26EH
Over 6 months AEIEP

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year READ

Reversal of impairment, net ERD - P8R (K5t6)
(note 6)

Amount written off as WEERATWOBYEZER
uncollectible

At end of year RER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix, or other applicable
approach, to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are generally based on days past
due. The calculation mainly reflects, as appropriate,
reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables:
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16.EZEUFRIA ()

ERFEEHHMRIORBEERK
% IRBRSHRNEZEINRIE
BRES DTN

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiET T87T
26,435 27,116
21,342 22,988

1,327 13,886

3,559 7,480

62,663 71,470
L —— By

8 2 IR E RE SR R e B
W -

HK$’000 HK$000

FET 87T

5,100 6,077

(1,186) (360)
(82) (617)

3,832 5,100
I

RBBSBRERBBRIAIE
MERD A ERBEERE
DUETBED I - BB — R 1R
BMAESIE -BRSIEEIERNA
RESBHREHEESH BRI
RIS B R AAE AN R PR 2 S 32
ROZFHFER -

DTS ERAEBE ZEITR
BeEERRCER:




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRERIFSERRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

16.

17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Current to
past due
less than

1 month
L CE
ik
HiER

Expected credit loss rate EHEERER 1.22%

REaE (TET)
RHEEEE(TET)

26,763
327

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

As at 31 December 2022

Current to
past due
less than

T month

LR

L

HIRER

Expected credit loss rate BHEERER 121%
REE (TET)

RHEEEE (TEL)

36,839
447

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

BT
1w REAEIGRIE

Prepayments
Deposits and other receivables

B IEmE BB D
mENBB D

Less: Non-current portion
Current portion

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of significant default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the loss allowance
was assessed by management to be minimal.

Included in the Group’s prepayments at 31 December
2022 was a prepayment to an Other Member of the
Emperor Group of approximately HK$288,000.
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16.BAEUWIE (&)
122023512831

Past due Past due Pastdue Past due
1to 3 3to6 6to9 over9
months  months  months  months
Ll L Ll B
1Z38R 3E6ER 6Z9ER 9EANL
2.28% 461%  1092%  67.97% 5.76%
21,840 1,874 2,858 3160 66,495
498 547 312 2,148 3,832
R2022F128318
Past due  Pastdue Pastdue Pastdue
1103 3tob 6t09 over 9
months ~ months ~ months  months Total
palii ki L ki
1B3BE  3F6EE  6FER 9BRME @25t
2.33% 450% 11.08%  64.92% 6.66%
19,040 9,964 5947 4780 76570
443 448 659 3103 5100

17. AN RIR - REREME
INFRIR

HK$°’000 HK$’000
Fi&rx FETT
2,581 6,727
4,645 5,377
7,226 12,104
(2,983) (2,960)
4,243 9,144

StA LS4 0E R0 E 2 £ 4T HF
W S5 KB K0 HA RIS BV B U
MIBBERI - 1R2022F 202345
128318 - BB E G BI85
RMAEE-

R2022F 123318 - AEB 2 B
THREBE—"BXXUPTREE
BEMREQRAIZEUREN
288,000/8 7T °




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRS RIFSIRRMIGE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

18.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT

Cash and bank balances RERIRTEH
Bank deposit RITER

Subtotal INET

Less: Pledged bank deposit B BIEIPIRTER
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREESEY

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT

RMB AR

Others Hh

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREESEY

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged bank deposit are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The Group’s credit card facilities have been secured
by the pledge of the bank deposit of the Group
amounting to HK$800,000 (2022: HK$800,000) as at
31 December 2023.
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1. RERREEENMREIR

HIRITEFER

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiET TB7T
142,738 19,930
800 800
143,538 20,730
(800) (800)

142,738 19,930
I

AEENESRRESENDL
TH S EHE -

| 2023 JELRE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiET TETT
141,559 18,821
1,054 1,025
125 84

142,738 19,930
I

ANEBATBEBRRARAEME
o R - IRBEPEANICINES
BIRAI K AEHE SERIESIE
RE REBELEZBEREE
TINEEBRT/HARBRR
REME -

ETERRBTHRTRTBAN
FRDAR NRRBEEERT
ERNRFE-RITH/HBREE
BIRTERDE IR ERERN
TCIRBEERBIRIT -

[R2023F128318 - AEBCER
EEEMAEBELEHR800,000
875 (20224 : 800,000/87T0) &
RITERIELEP -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

19.TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

as follows:

Less than 30 days 30K
30 to 90 days 30290k
More than 90 days 90K =
Total RET

The trade payable are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on terms of 30 to 90 days.

20.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

19. & 7 B (Y IR
ERBTOM RESHRES
FEITRBBVRB DT T :

HK$°’000 HK$’000
FET FET
6,140 5,350
224 436

34 321

6,398 6,107

BSRENARBRABE—KRUN
FI0E0KRHIGE -

20.HithfE{IRIA R fESTE A

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000

K&t FET FET
Contract liabilities SRR (a) 1,749 1,510
Other payables and accruals* HEMMENRIBERESTER* (b) 18,547 16,861
Total Bt 20,296 18,371
* Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals * ANEEBHMENRIERESE

are amounts due to related parties, which are members
of the AY Holdings Group and Emperor Group,
and directors of the Company, of approximately
HK$300,000 (2022: HK$1,234,000), HK$156,000
(2022: Nil) and HK$248,000 (2022: Nil), respectively.
These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing

and repayable on demand.

Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Payments received in JEURIA
advance:
Circulation 817
Digital advertising HIHES

Total contract liabilities S &ER48
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BRE/ENEE S (BE2WE
ENMBREBRESEF CNE
INSIDIYSFN/ANC == S=E)
BI#U300,000/8 70 (20224 :
1,234,000/87T) ~156,000/8
7T (20221 : ) 248,000/8
70 (20227 ) - FEBH A
LI PR RBLREKREE-

Wt -
(a) BHEEFEDT:

K WYY 1 I-Td 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
20235 2022% 2022%
12A318 12A318 1818
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&T FBT FBT

217 223 255

1,532 1,287 1,251

1,749 1,510 1,506
I
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

20.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(€))

(b)

(continued)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances
received relating to circulation and digital advertising.
The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022
was mainly due to short-term advances received from
customers in relation to digital advertising near the
end of the respective years.

Included in the Group’s other payables at 31
December 2023 was an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$342,000 (2022: HK$1,336,000), in
connection with the additions of property, plant and
equipment.

Save as the amounts due to related parties, other
payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on terms of 30 to 90 days.

21.INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS

Current BNHA
Bank borrowing - unsecured #R{TfE R — LD
Bank borrowing - secured R{TER—BEIP

Analysed into: DR
Bank borrowings repayable: BEENRTER:
Within one year or on —FARIILZEK*
demand*

The relevant agreements contain repayment on
demand clauses giving the respective lenders
the unconditional rights to call in the respective
borrowings at any time and, therefore, for the
purpose of the above analysis, the total amount is
classified as “on demand”.
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e

(b) 1R2023F123318 - KEB 7
RNEYZE FERREECHME
Y RIBREE K /R342,000/8 7T
(20224 :1,336,00058735) °

PRIEREHS T FRIB 9N » EAFE(T
RERRBEBE—MRUNTI0E
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21. 5t RIRITER

| 2023 EEE

Notes  HK$’000 HK$'000
st FiET FET
(@) - 6,000
(b) - 15,000
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. |
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. |
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

21.INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a

(b)

In the last quarter of 2022, an indirect subsidiary of
the Company (the “Subsidiary”) obtained a term loan
facility (the “Facility”) from a bank (the “Lender”)
with a facility limit of HK$6,000,000, of which
HK$6,000,000 was utilised as at 31 December 2022.
The Facility was guaranteed by the Company for an
unlimited amount. A deed of undertaking was executed
by AY Holdings, pursuant to which AY Holdings
unconditionally and irrevocably covenanted and
undertook with the Lender that if the Company’s shares
were not listed on the Stock Exchange within eleven
months from 30 November 2022, AY Holdings should
immediately provide or cause to be provided to the
Subsidiary with sufficient funding in cash for repaying
all outstanding indebtedness under the Facility in full.
At 31 December 2022, the loan drawdown under the
Facility bore interest at 2.75% per annum over HIBOR
and was repayable in November 2023.

The Subsidiary obtained an uncommitted revolving
loan facility from a bank (the “Bank”) in December
2022 with a facility limit of HK$30,000,000, of which
HK$15,000,000 was utilised as at 31 December 2022.
The revolving loan facility was secured by a corporate
guarantee of the Company and certain trade receivables
of the Group (note 16). At 31 December 2022, the loan
drawdown under this revolving bank loan facility bore
interest at 4.5% per annum over 1-month HIBOR or 4.5%
per annum over the Bank’s cost of funds, whichever
was higher, and the aggregate accrued interest and
principal amount of the bank borrowing outstanding at
31 December 2022 of HK$15,000,000 were repayable
on or before 7 February 2023. Pursuant to the terms
and conditions of this revolving bank loan facility, the
maximum loan finance ratio should be up to a certain
percentage (the “Threshold Percentage”) of the
total amount of accounts receivable as shown on the
concerned accounts receivable report of the Subsidiary
(the “AR Report”) for each withdrawal and the then
loan outstanding with the maximum drawdown amount
should not exceed the facility limit. If the balance
on the AR Report was below a certain amount and
its loan-to-value ratio (“LTV Ratio”) against the loan
withdrawn under the facility (“Loan Outstanding”)
exceeded the Threshold Percentage, at any time, the
Subsidiary should reduce the Loan Outstanding in order
to restore the LTV Ratio to not more than the Threshold
Percentage within the time limit imposed by the Bank
from time to time. In case of the LTV Ratio exceeding
the Threshold Percentage, the Subsidiary would be
required to pay off the shortfall difference by early
partial repayment or providing acceptable collateral
to the Bank in order to get back the original LTV Ratio
position within one month.

The Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings at 31
December 2022 were denominated in HK$.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR TE ERRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #EHZFE2023F 1233180 IFLFE

22.PROVISION 22 1R
Pursuant to the terms of a tenancy agreement, the REHERBEER AEBE
Group, as the lessee of a leased property, has the n—BEEYECABA - BE
obligations to reinstate the leased property to its EEA*H?’ﬁ*ﬁfﬁ@xﬁ?ﬁ/@]ﬁﬁﬂ%
original state as specified in the tenancy agreement at ZHEEYEMERBERES]

the end/upon the termination of the relevant lease. W RAR

Provision for reinstatement costs BB R

HK$’000
FETT

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R2022F1818 ~ 2022F128318 »
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023  2023F1818 £2023F128318 6,557
EE——

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined &1 @ZK%M DERAEEHEIE
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by J=9<H7° TREREIREERED
the management of the Group with reference to, inter 2%?% RIESTMERE %%
alia, past experience and available information. The BREBEROSTEDRSRE BRE
assumptions and estimates are reviewed and revised TREY RIBE] -
where appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting
period.
23.DEFERRED TAX 23 EEFRIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets TR - ELRBEEBEREELE
during the year are as follows: E2I RN
Deferred tax assets EEMRIAEE
Depreciation in
excess of related
depreciation
allowance/
(depreciation
allowance in
excess of  Impairment of
related trade
depreciation) receivables Others Total
itgehebild
ERE/
(FERRER EREN
BERE) BIEHE Eftr st
Note HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$:000
i3 T&r T&n T&n T&n
At 1 January 2022 1202251518 (560) aMm - 351
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to - EAREES A/ (1B)2
profit or loss during the year EARE 10 305 (148) - 157
At 31 December 2022 and R2022E128318 &
1 January 2023 2023E1518 (255) 763 - 508
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  ERREETN/ (1K) 2
profit or loss during the year EARE 10 34 (232) 75 157
At 31 December 2023 R2023E1258318 59 531 75 665
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

23.DEFERRED TAX (continued)
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$36,103,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$33,682,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these tax losses due to the unpredictability
of the future taxable profits streams of the subsidiaries
in which the tax losses arose and it is not considered
probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

23 EEFIE (&)

R2023F 128318 A &£ H
REBELECREBENR
36,103,000/8 75 (20224 -
33,682,000/870) ' ZERIEBEY
EBERHAAFEHEELEGERTZ
KIRERRBRA

BREERESEHNBAT 2
RRERTBRAREBATRA
BARKTEERRERREN T
HREBEBREN WWEMNZS

24.1SSUED CAPITAL 24 B EITIRK
Shares % {53
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: ER:
1,000,000,000 1,000,000,0008% (2022
(2022: 5,000,000) & :5,000,000) B
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 BEEC.OB TS BR
each 10,000 50
I EE——
Issued and fully paid: BROEMRE:
600,000,000 (2022: 20,000) 600,000,000 (2022
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 F:20,000R) BREE
each 0.0BITZREK 6,000 —*
—
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24.ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 24 ERITRAN (=)
Shares (continued) B (&)
A summary of movements in the Company’s AN EATCKRDE&TR AL E)
authorised and issued share capital is as follows: B0 T -
Number of
shares Amount
BRn &8 &8
Notes HK$'000
st FBT
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 [R2022F1518 202212831
and 1 January 2023 B K2023F1818 5,000,000 50
Creation of additional authorised BERBINAERD
shares (a) 995,000,000 9,950
At 31 December 2023 132023F128318 1,000,000,000 10,000
EEEE——
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHAR:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 (3202281518 * 202212831
and 1 January 2023 8 K2023F1718 20,000 -
Capitalisation issue EXNEGR (b) 449,980,000 4,500
Issues of new shares pursuant to a REROHBERTHRGD
share offer () 150,000,000 1,500
At 31 December 2023 1R2023F128318 600,000,000 6,000
EEE—
*  Amount less than HK$1,000 *  FZORL00087T

M5t -

Notes:

(a) RIER2023F6F268 @B
CREEDREFEX BTHIBR

(a) Pursuant to the written resolution of the Shareholders
passed on 26 June 2023, the authorised share capital

(b)

of the Company was increased from HK$50,000
divided into 5,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each, by the creation of an additional
995,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each, ranking pari
passu in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Shareholders
passed on 26 June 2023, 449,980,000 ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were
allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at par,
by way of capitalisation from the share premium
account to the Shareholders on a pro-rata basis
(the “Capitalisation Issue”). The allotment and the
capitalisation issue were conditional on the share
premium account of the Company being credited
with the proceeds from the issue of new shares of
the Company in connection with a share offer of the
Company as detailed in note (c) below.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

24.ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c) In connection with a share offer of the Company
(including a placing and a pubic offer), 150,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each
were issued at a price of HK$0.92 per share for
a total cash consideration, before share issue
expenses, of approximately HK$138,000,000.

25.SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a share option scheme
(“Scheme”) on 26 June 2023. The major terms of the
Scheme are summarised as follows:

1. Purpose of the Scheme
To enable the Company to grant options to
eligible participants to subscribe for shares in
the Company as incentive to encourage the
eligible participants to perform their best in
achieving goals of the Group or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

2. Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (whether
full time or part time), including any directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme
(a) Total number of shares available for issue as
at 26 March 2024 (i.e., the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements) under
the Scheme: 60,000,000 shares

(b) Percentage of the issued shares that it
represents as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements: 10%

4. Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
under the Scheme
(a) not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue in
any 12-month period unless approved by the
Shareholders; and
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25.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 25 B RRMESTEl (=)

4. Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant 4. ZHEIETEESEBLA
under the Scheme (continued) EOEBERSLIR (&)

(b) options granted to substantial shareholders (b)) REGR2EEROFE

or independent non-executive directors of REBEXANDBITIEH

the Company or their respective associates
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the shares in issue must be approved by the
Shareholders.

TEFARSFTSE
BARECBRE 518
BEETRDZ01%:
AU BFERERALAE

Period within which the option may be exercised 5. IREEZETE REBACILAT

by the grantee under the Scheme {EiRIZRENHR

At any time from the date of acceptance of the RENBREBBEEZEAN

option to such a date determined by the board IEES (B8] )BT

of directors of the Company (“Board”) but in any BREBHRNEQERE &
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of REMER T AEBEE
grant. tH B B0 -

Vesting period of options granted under the 6. KZEIIBTFHNEIRIENS

Scheme [ 5

In any event shall not be less than 12 months EETEBER FAREDRI2E

unless otherwise determined by the Board (or B RIEFEES (HALDF

the Remuneration Committee of the Company WMWEES EERRARES

where the grantee is a director and/or senior R/ SaREBAS) 258

management) E o

(a) Price payable on application or acceptance of 7. (3) PHEAHEMNERERAT
the option: HK$1.00; B BER:1.008

IG5

(b) The period within which payments or calls (ORI EEASEEE N E- - 37
must or may be made: Within 28 days from TR HIR B B Hie
the date of grant; and 528HMW; &

(c) Period within which loans for such purposes (c) MBEEIENRBER
of the payments or calls must be repaid: Not URAZEERER :
applicable. BH-

Basis for determining the exercise price 8. ERfTHEECE®E

The exercise price is determined by the Board
(subject to adjustment) and will not be less than
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.
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25.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

9.

The remaining life of the Scheme
Approximately 9 years (expiring on 16 July 2033).

During the year, no option was outstanding, granted,
exercised or cancelled, or lapsed under the Scheme
(2022: NiD.

26.RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 63 of the financial statements.

Other reserves
The other reserves mainly arise from:

(a)

(b)

©

(D

(e

the differences between the aggregate amount
of the issued capital and share premium of the
relevant subsidiaries and the nominal value of an
entity’s shares issued for the acquisition thereof in
prior periods;

the acquisition an of additional 15% equity interest
in a subsidiary from a non-controlling shareholder
in 2006 and was deemed as a capital contribution;

the current accounts waived by the then
immediate holding company as a result of the
deregistration of certain subsidiaries in prior
periods;

the deemed contribution arising from the
discounting of a non-current interest-free loan
from the then immediate holding company in prior
periods; and

the difference between the nominal amount of the
issued capital of New Media Group Limited and
the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange therefor pursuant to a
reorganisation in 2021.
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27.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

27.3 8 RERERMEE
QIEBHFREZH

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had non-cash lease modifications resulting
in a net decrease in right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$1,567,000 and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$1,567,000, respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for properties and
equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use

REE2023F128318 L&
FTE AEBEHIFREMA
BN - ERWERREE
S EREEERDL
1,567,000 T REESE
A %01,567,0005/8 7T ©

HE2022F128318 IE&
B REERMERBER

assets and lease liabilities of approximately ERLDBHEBEREEE

HK$695,000 and HK$695,000, respectively, in REEEBECZIIFRTAEN
respect of lease arrangements for properties. 695,000 0K #1695,000
BIT ©

(b)Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities

(D MEERFEE &
1)

Lease Interest-bearing

liabilities bank borrowings

BERE sHRBTER

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

2023 2023F
At 1 January 2023 1R2023F1918 63,492 21,000
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREED (13,758) (21,000)
Lease modifications HEBNH 1,567 -
Interest expense NEHE% 3,185 -
At 31 December 2023 122023128318 54,486 -
—

2022 2022
At 1 January 2022 120221518 72,550 35,000
Changes from financing cash flows MERERERD (13,447) (14,000)
New leases & 695 -
Interest expense MEHE% 3,694 -

At 31 December 2022

122022123318

63,492 21,000
—

(c) Total cash outflow for leases COOHEEZRERHBE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the STAGREIREMNERNESE
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: REABBEBU T :

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi&rx FBT

Within operating activities WEEEEE 164 219
Within financing activities BETHHE 13,758 13,447
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28.TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED 28 HIRAEAT (BRERE

PARTIES (INCLUDING MEMBERS OF BE)ETZRS

THE EMPEROR GROUP)

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements () RS mMETEMM AT
and balances detailed elsewhere in these FMCRF  ZHRAEEHRIN -
financial statements, the Group had the following REBRATE MRS /I
transactions with related parties during the year: BUTNRS :

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000

K5t FiE&T BT
Other members of the BEREXERES
AY Holdings Group Hittm &
Advertising income BEUIA 0) = 427
Reimbursement of EBNTEHESX
administrative expenses D) 1,121 1,330
IS
Notes: BifcT -
(i) Advertising income was charged based on terms () BESWADREMEBE AL
as agreed by the relevant parties as set out in B RE 2 1 FRULER -
the respective agreements.
(i) The amounts charged were with reference to the () Wl EsBH2EMES
costs incurred. A o
(b) The Group had the following transactions with b)) RERN AEERREEH
Other Members of the Emperor Group during the HMWETMU NEFH
year:
| 2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
K5t Fi&rx BT
Advertising income BSIA (i) 1,280 1,779
Production costs and BEN A R ED RIS
printing costs (i) 279 295
Sponsor fee REBE (i) 565 219
Underwriting commission & {HEE (iv) 3,795 -
Overall coordinator’s fee ZE#HBFEAEH ) 690 -
IS
Notes: HifcT -
(i) Advertising income was charged based on terms () BESWADREMEBEAL
as agreed by the relevant parties as set out in B RE 2 1 FRULER -
the respective agreements.
(i) Production costs and printing costs were charged () EERARDRBIKATDZ
based on terms as agreed by the relevant parties A8 B8 5] K077 1953 58 BOIR R
as set out in the respective agreements. HY o
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28.TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED 28.5512'%

(b) (#)

PARTIES (INCLUDING MEMBERS OF
THE EMPEROR GROUP) (continued)
(b) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) An Other Member of the Emperor Group has
been appointed as one of the joint sponsors
for the initial public offering of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange pursuant to an engagement letter for
a total agreed sponsor fee of HK$1,650,000.
The total amount of such sponsor fee incurred
was approximately HK$1,650,000 (2022:
HK$1,213,000), of which approximately
HK$565,000 (2022: HK$219,000) was charged
to profit or loss for the year.

(iv) An underwriting commission paid for the share
offer of the Company was charged by an Other
Member of the Emperor Group pursuant to an
underwriting agreement entered into with that
Other Member of the Emperor Group.

(v) An overall coordinator’s fee paid for the share
offer of the Company was charged by an Other
Member of the Emperor Group pursuant to an
agreement entered into with that Other Member
of the Emperor Group.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

I]

Short term employee benefits 45 HRE i@ F

Post-employment benefits B & R A
Total compensation paid to NYEZEE AS 89
key management personnel R28

Further details of directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 2. BMWERIEI S NEMTR
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RIBEHR SEANTRTER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting FEEEW M :

period are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised

cost:

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Pledged bank deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised

cost:

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings

Lease liabilities

ERHEE

HK$°000 HK$°000

Fi&rx BT
BEENAV R TMEE:
B EINRIE 62,663 71,470
STABRIE - BEH R
HiEINRENT/REE
4,645 3,517
BIEIPRITER 800 800
RERREEEY 142,738 19,930

210,846 95,717
& |
TMaIE

HK$°’000 HK$°'000

FiEx FB70
BEENAVRCE/MEE:

B ENRIE 6,398 6,107

STAEHMENRIEBER
[ESTEANET/REE 12,046 12,660

STRBTER

- 21,000
HEBE 54,486 63,492

72,930 103,259
I

30.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 0. AFERATFERER
HIERARCHY
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying RISHR AEBNEMEE
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial RTRBEBECcROESIEMNRHE
liabilities reasonably approximated to their fair values. NEENES -
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are TREERBENQAVERITIA
included at the amount at which the instrument could REREH<cEBNIRBRS (R
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing BRRBREERIN) PR
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The NEBAR-UTNOERRKRR
following methods and assumption were used to BLESTAYE :

estimate the fair values:
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30.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

31.

HIERARCHY (continued)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposit, trade receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing
bank borrowings reasonably approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term
maturities of these instruments/they are repayable on
demand or the effect of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables had been calculated and assessed mainly
by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities, as
appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 were assessed to be
insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
interest-bearing bank borrowings, lease liabilities,
pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade
payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, which mainly arise directly
from its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year, the Group’s
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk. The
management of the Group reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts on credit with recognised/
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
most customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to certain credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2023

3. MERRESIEERRIE

(&)

S5 R
AEBLTEZRERY BERE
RBE=DELTEERZ -KEE
LBRRARZHNRUEERRE
TEBCSFRRPIBRKRBETER
REBIERS - I FRUBGRIB /S8R TY
RESBEEERSR-

B KRR R FARBER
TERIINI2BINBIREAES
EEBRNEEERRTEZH
RAXEERRE (BRIFESNHHBEAR
MWERAAE HMIESHME
B BAEEZEREABER) R
FRERDHE 2B RAE
MEECEODRE-

122023F12H31H

Lifetime ECLs
RURNESER
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
FEER B2PER B3I BilLrE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&n Fi&Rm FET Fi&m Fi&R
Trade receivables* EZRIRE" - - - 66,495 66,495
Financial assets included in ~ STABNIE BER
prepayments, deposits and  E BB
other receivables TRHEE
- Normal** ~EB* 4,645 - - - 4,645
Pledged deposit BEBER
- Not yet past due EE NIk 800 - - - 800
Cash and cash equivalents ~ R&EREEZEY
- Not yet past due i oE Nk 142,738 - - - 142,738
148,183 - - 66,495 214,678
IEEEE I I IS
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MERABEREEREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (continued) EER/E (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging mAR RO R FERBER
(continued) (%)
As at 31 December 2022 /22022512831
12-
month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
RERES
EEEBSE rHREBEEBE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIBE BN B Blo* Rt
HK$'000 HK$°'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FET +B1T FET +B1
Trade receivables® EZRNE - - - 76,570 76,570
Financial assets included in ~ STABNTE ZER
prepayments, deposits and  Ef0EIIED
other receivables TREE
- Normal** —FE 3,517 - - - 3,517
Pledged deposit BEBER
- Not yet past due -ExaH 800 - - - 800
Cash and cash equivalents ~ RERETSEY)
- Not yet past due BNk 19,930 - - - 19,930
24,247 - - 76,570 100,817
I IS S BN
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies * AEBHABRELESTE

L EBIRIREBEMS  RIEEE
Rl EHCERRITE W RIK
M EF1692 52 -

the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

STARMRRIR - 225 R EHAR B
RNEHMEENESEESERE
HERRRIES] WwABE

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included o
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past

due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group regularly monitors its risk to a shortage of
funds and considers the maturity of both its financial
liabilities and financial assets and projected cash flows

from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of interest-bearing bank borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group

31 December 2023

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

31 December 2022

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

On demand

31.

AR AR E 12 B R R IR
(#)

37 & 1, P
AEBTHEREE R A
RoUEEENEERYBEE
CHHOLURESHEEEB R
EHE -

AEBERRBBERAARIY
NRCRTER REEZRKE
MBS S 1 BY 4 o

AEERBSHRCERNEER
RESTRRITTG R B BN
IS

&=

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FEn FER FET
2023F128318

= ANEE] 6,398 - - 6,398

SIAEMENTRERESTER
NTmMEeE 12,046 - - 12,046
HEEE 12,181 44,429 6,378 62,988
30,625 44,429 6,378 81,432
I N NN

On demand
or less than 1to Over
1 year 5 years 5 years Total
BENXY,
1ER 1E5F BiB5F ®Et
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000
TET FET 8T FET
2022F128318

BZENAE 6,107 - - 6,107

SEAHMEBNRERESER
NZHEE 12,660 - - 12,660
stRRITER 21,000 - - 21,000
neaers 14,122 43,996 17,31 75,429
53,889 43,996 17,311 115,196
I I NN
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MERABEREEREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the interest-bearing bank
borrowings of the Group in the aggregate amount
of HK$21,000,000 contained repayment on demand
clauses giving the respective lenders the unconditional
rights to call in the respective borrowings at any time
and, therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the repayment on demand clauses,
the directors of the Company do not believe that the
borrowings would be called in in their entirety at any
time and they considered that the borrowings would
be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates as set
out in the corresponding agreements. This evaluation
was made after considering the financial position of
the Group at 31 December 2022, the lack of events
of default, and the fact that the Group had made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which
contained a repayment on demand clause, the maturity
profile of those loans as at 31 December 2022, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring
the effect of any repayment on demand clause, is as
follows:

As at 31 December 2022 1R2022F123318
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(&)
mEN R BE (=)
R2022F1283318  AEBE R
ﬁcﬂ MR 2E21,000,00058 75
BT ZERANBIELREF
LH%W@QIE{ RZEKEE
R B w Ey B BRI ™
=S RBEDER[BEX] -

BEBZEREBEERR AQT
EESHEEEBAERETE
BRSO MESABREE
RIBEEEBETS I BEE

B EHIFLGR EEBAES
[R2022F 1283188 @M&Hﬁ}%

WHENSH R AEB BT ER
EMRNBEEE-

RECSHEKBEERZER
&R 1R2022F128318 » %5
%%ﬁiﬁ%%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁ SR
BiIZBEKREERRFE B
AN

On demand
or less than
1 year Total
BERIER 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEBIT

21,171 21,171
—
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3. MERRESIEERRIE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is determined based on the Group’s total debts
divided by its total equity. Total debts include interest-
bearing bank borrowings, amounts due to related
companies and amounts due to directors. The gearing
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

Amounts due to related JENRREE AT RIB (Mf5E20)

companies (note 20)
Amounts due to directors

(note 20)

Interest-bearing bank StRIRITER (M5L21)
borrowings (note 21)

Total debts EFFRE

Total equity et R AR

Gearing ratio EANBER
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B AEEEHEACBE BER
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AEBRAELABEXRELRE
K ZEARDRAEEBREHR
DRERBT REXEBBSR
LITER EKTE%LQjTREJ/X
RENESRIE - RBE R

EABBHERYNT:
HK$°’000 HK$’000
Fi&T TBTT
456 1,234
248 -
= 21,000
704 22,234
200,731 71,498
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32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32.A\TMBERRER
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position RWEHR  BEARIZHF
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is R ERWT
as follows:

HK$°000 HK$'000

Fi& FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EIWNBATNNRE 14,229 14,229
CURRENT ASSETS mEVEE
Due from a subsidiary eI — B B AT RIB 82,614 66,000
Prepayments BT RIB 594 4,050
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 41,030 -
Total current assets mBEERE 124,238 70,050
CURRENT LIABILITIES neBEE
Accruals fESTE A 1,684 -
Due to a subsidiary [N —BEATIRIE 151 63,653
Total current liabilities MmENBE R 1,835 63,653
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 122,403 6,397
Net assets EEFE 136,632 20,626
EQUITY fEm
Issued capital BEROTRA 6,000 -
Reserves (note) B (Mfst) 130,632 20,626
Total equity R 136,632 20,626

HHHHH‘ 142 New Media Lab Limited $TEE&BRAT 2023 Annual Report F§




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS HE R MISE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 1283318 IFFE

32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32.KX\TMERRER (&)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: My
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KA EBEHRW
Retained
profits/
Share Other (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
REBEN/
R RE Hitefitte  (RER) @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT FEBT FBTT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1518 - 14,229 7,535 21,764
Interim dividend (note 1) BRR (Mratn) - - (12,000) (12,000)
Total comprehensive income for FREBERALE
the year - - 10,862 10,862
At 31 December 2022 and [R2022F12831B R
1 January 2023 2023F15818 - 14,229 6,397 20,626
Capitalisation issue BARLT (4,500) - - (4,500)
Issue of shares BITRNG 136,500 - - 136,500
Share issue expenses RIDEOES (13,371) - - 13,371)
Interim dividend (note 1) DBRR (Mratn) - - (10,000) (10,000)
Total comprehensive income for £ARZERA
the year RE - - 1,377 1377
At 31 December 2023 [R2023%F125318 118,629 14,229 (2,226) 130,632
I S R S
The Company’s other reserve represents the excess RN DEMEBIRFIEBRIE2021FE 2 &
of the equity of a subsidiary acquired pursuant to the HETINENBRATCRaBEART
reorganisation in 2021 over the nominal value of the RENBEERMBToRIDEES
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. =&
33.APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL IBHLEMBRR
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and BT D 1R2024F38260%E
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 s ERBRTIE-
March 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RATEHIE

The following table summarises the results, assets FNHRIBFIAEBREE2020F
and liabilities of the Group for the years ended 31 20214 2022%F K20235F128318
December 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023:

IFFECXBE EEREE:

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the ZAEBHZE20204% 2021FEK&2022
Group for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 F1RBE3BIFFEC*¥E EERS
and 2022, as extracted/derived from the prospectus of BEHE (FRE, KEALRTHEHR
the Company dated 30 June 2023 and the published 2023F68308vBREERALE
audited financial statements of the Group, is set out BB KRRUBREK)S IR T
below. No financial statements of the Group for the X AREBWETEEHZE2019F128

year ended 31 December 2019 have been published.

RESULTS

REVENUE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
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E 0]

BN

BRI AR A

PTiERAE

BRTHEA
BIERA

EERE(E
REE
=
EEZRE
SYN=IE/Z=PN
BiERR

JIPULEFECHUFFRK -

For the year ended 31 December
BE12ABLEE

2020 2021 PPl 2023 |
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FBT FBT FBr Fi&iT

211,589 245,199 240,678 = 220,885
46,696 4220 46,844 18,870
(5,528) (9,071) (7,413) (4,345)

41,168 33,049 39,431 14,525
I S S

As at 31 December

1R128318

2020 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 = HK$’000
T8 TBT T8 FiER

122,416 216,216 190,619 288,567
(67,422) (172,181) (119,121)  (87,836)
54,994 44,035 71,498 200,731
54,994 44,035 71,498 200,731
L~ B By
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